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Chairman’s Statement

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Yat Sing Holdings Limited (the “Company” 

together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), I am pleased to present our first annual report of the Group following 

our listing on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

LISTING ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE

On 14 January 2015, the shares of our Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed on the Main Board of 

the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”), which marked a significant milestone for our Group. 139,850,000 new Shares 

were issued under the share offer, raising net proceeds of approximately HK$64.5 million (after Listing expenses). 

The additional capital raised and a broader capital base as a result of the Listing would allow for the expansion 

of our Group. Further, it has provided our Group the opportunity to strengthen our internal control function and 

corporate governance and further promote our Group as a well-organised establishment to the general public.

RESULTS

For the year ended 30 June 2015 (the “Period”), the Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$503.2 

million, down approximately HK$97.2 million or 16.2% from HK$600.4 million recorded in the same period in 

2014. Consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Period decreased by approximately 

HK$35.2 million or 76.5% to HK$10.8 million (2014: HK$46.0 million). With Listing expenses amounted to 

HK$12.1 million recognized for the Period, the financial results for the Period were affected by some degree.

The basic and diluted earnings per share for the Period was approximately HK1.0 cent. It represented a decline 

of approximately HK3.7 cents or 78.7% as compared to approximately HK4.7 cents in the same period in 2014.

As at 30 June 2015, the equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$158.6 

million (2014: HK$155.2 million), representing an increase of approximately 2.2%.

DEVELOPMENT FOR THE YEAR

Leveraging on our experience in the industry, in view of the Government’s measures on revitalisation of 

industrial buildings which will become one of the driving force in the industry in Hong Kong. Our Group further 

widened our spectrum of services by embarking on renovation projects involving the conversion of usage of 

industrial buildings. In October 2014, our Group have been awarded a renovation contract with contract value 

of approximately HK$288.0 million for the conversion of usage of an industrial building. The project has been 

commenced during the Period.

For our core business of maintenance works for public sectors, our Group has been awarded a District Term 

Contract (“DTC”) with a notional or estimated contract value of approximately HK$272.9 million for a contract 

period of 36 months by Hong Kong Housing Authority (the “Housing Authority”) in May 2015. The project had 

commenced in July 2015.
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PROSPECTS

Looking forward, with continuous spending on infrastructure and residential building works by both public and 

private sectors, we are expecting stable growth in the building and maintenance and renovation contracting 

service industry in Hong Kong, where our business will keep focusing on. Riding on our operating resources 

and experience, we believe that we can continue to maintain our competitive edge in the industry to capture the 

market share for building maintenance and renovation contracting services in Hong Kong.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders (“Shareholders”) for 

their continuous confidence, our business partners for their great trust, and our management and staff for their 

persistent faith and loyalty to the Group. In the coming years, we shall continue to explore new opportunities and 

strive for business growth to bring the highest returns to our Shareholders.

LIU Winson Wing Sun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 September 2015
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY

Our Group has more than 50 years of experience and knowledge in the building maintenance and renovation 

industry and has now become one of the major service providers of the industry in Hong Kong. In 1996, our 

Group was admitted to the Housing Authority’s contractor list under the “Building (Maintenance) Group M2 

(confirmed status)” category which enables our Group to tender for Housing Authority contracts for building 

maintenance and renovation works of unlimited value.

Our corporate objective is to create and enhance value for our Shareholders. To attain such objective, our 

Group strives to maintain stable growth and profitability by obtaining sustainable projects in both public and 

private sectors. To monitor projects as a main contractor, we have to carry out overall project management and 

supervision of works conducted by our subcontractors. As a result, the works performed by subcontractors can 

be ensured to conform to contractual specifications and be completed on time and within budget.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Our Group is a building maintenance and renovation service provider in Hong Kong. All revenue for the Period 

was derived from building maintenance and renovation services.

Our Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 14 January 2015 (the “Listing Date”) when 

139,850,000 new Shares had been offered for subscription and 139,850,000 Shares for sale, at an offer price of 

HK$0.60 per Share.

Building maintenance services

As at 30 June 2015, we had 6 building maintenance contracts on hand (including contracts in progress and 

contracts which are yet to commence) with a notional or estimated contract value of approximately HK$1,400.1 

million. As at 30 June 2014, we had 7 building maintenance contracts on hand with a notional or estimated 

contract value of HK$1,374.7 million. During the Period, we have completed 5 building maintenance contracts.

Renovation services

As at 30 June 2015, we had 4 renovation contracts on hand (including contracts in progress and contracts 

which are yet to commence) with a notional or estimated contract value of approximately HK$296.7 million. As at 

30 June 2014, we had 6 renovation contracts on hand with a notional or estimated contact value of HK$296.9 

million. During the Period, we have completed 7 renovation contracts.
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RECENT DEVELOPMENT

Building maintenance services

During the Period, we had been successfully awarded 5 contracts with a notional or estimated contract value 

of approximately HK$659.3 million. Of the newly awarded contracts, 4 commenced during the Period with a 

notional or estimated contract value of approximately HK$386.4 million.

With the completion of several DTCs, our Group had been awarded a new DTC with a notional or estimated 

contract value of approximately HK$272.9 million for a contract period of 36 months by Housing Authority in May 

2015. The project had commenced in July 2015.

Renovation services

During the Period, we had been successfully awarded 6 contracts with a notional or estimated contract value 

of approximately HK$322.7 million. Of the newly awarded contracts, 4 commenced during the Period with a 

notional or estimated contract value of approximately HK$320.9 million.

In view of the Government’s measures on revitalisation of industrial buildings, our Group have been awarded 

a renovation contract with contract value of approximately HK$288.0 million for the conversion of usage of an 

industrial building. The project has been commenced during the Period.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the Period, the revenue of the Group was approximately HK$503.2 million representing a decrease of 

approximately HK$97.2 million or 16.2% compared with approximately HK$600.4 million for the same period in 

2014. All revenue was derived from building maintenance and renovation services.

Revenue derived from building maintenance services decreased by approximately HK$85.2 million or 21.2% 

from approximately HK$401.9 million for the same period in 2014 to approximately HK$316.7 million during the 

Period. The decrease in revenue was mainly caused by works orders for some DTCs no longer issued to our 

Group upon contract expiration and delay in the progress of several projects during the Period.

Revenue derived from renovation services also showed a decrease of approximately HK$12.0 million or 6.0% 

from approximately HK$198.5 million in the same period in 2014 to approximately HK$186.5 million during the 

Period. The decrease in revenue was mainly caused by the unsuccessful tender for a renovation term contract 

with an education institution and delay in progress for the project in respect of the conversion of usage of an 

industrial building.
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Gross profit

During the Period, the Group’s gross profit amounted to approximately HK$52.4 million (2014: HK$55.8 million) 

representing a decrease of approximately HK$3.4 million or 6.1%. Gross profit margin for the Period was 

approximately 10.4% (2014: 9.3%), the increase was consistent with the improvement in gross profit margin for 

both building maintenance and renovation segments as explained below.

Gross profit attributable to building maintenance services for the Period amounted to approximately HK$41.0 

million (2014: HK$46.0 million), representing a decrease of approximately HK$5.0 million or 10.9%, the decrease 

was due to the expiration of 5 building maintenance contracts during the Period and gross profit contributed by 

these 5 contracts decreased by approximately HK$12.9 million over the Period. The Group’s gross profit margin 

for building maintenance services for the Period was approximately 12.9% (2014: 11.4%). The improvement in 

gross profit margin in this segment over the same period in 2014 was attributable to the improved quotation and 

higher margins charged by the Group on new contracts accepted by our clients.

Gross profit attributable to renovation services for the Period amounted to approximately HK$11.1 million (2014: 

HK$9.7 million), representing an increase of approximately HK$1.4 million or 14.4%. Gross profit margin from 

renovation services during the Period was approximately 6.0%, which was higher than the same period in 2014 

by approximately 4.9%. The improvement in gross profit margin in this segment was mainly caused by higher 

margin charged by the Group on new contracts (e.g. the project in respect of conversion of the usage of industrial 

building).

Other income

For the Period, other income comprised of interests amounted to approximately HK$0.2 million and other 

miscellaneous income of the Group. For the same period in 2014, other income included disposal gain of 

property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately HK$14.0 million.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$19.9 million or 125.2% from approximately HK$15.9 

million for the same period in 2014 to approximately HK$35.8 million for the Period, mainly due to the one-off 

professional fees related to the Listing of approximately HK$12.1 million, as well as an increase in salaries and 

wages.

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately HK$0.4 million or 50.0% from approximately HK$0.8 million for 

the same period in 2014 to approximately HK$0.4 million for the Period. The decrease was mainly due to the 

decrease in the Group’s obligations under financial leases and bank borrowings with the use of proceeds from  

Listing to repay part of bank borrowings.
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Income tax

The effective tax rates were approximately 33.5% and 13.3% for the Period and the same period in 2014, 

respectively. The effective tax rate for the Period was significantly higher than the statutory profits tax rate of 

16.5% due to the professional fees related to the Listing of approximately HK$12.1 million incurred for the Period, 

which were non-deductible expenses.

Profit for the year

The Group’s profit for the Period decreased by approximately HK$35.2 million or 76.2% from approximately 

HK$46.2 million for the same period in 2014 to approximately HK$11.0 million for the Period. Such decrease was 

mainly attributed to the recognition of the expenses of approximately HK$12.1 million in relation to the Listing 

during the Period.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

The Group generally finances its operation through cash from operations and bank borrowings. As at 30 June 

2015, the Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately HK$98.9 million (2014: HK$66.8 million). 

Bank borrowings as at 30 June 2015 amounted to approximately HK$10.1 million (2014: HK$12.6 million). All the 

cash and bank balances and bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

As at 30 June 2015, the share capital and equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to 

approximately HK$11.2 million and HK$158.6 million respectively (2014: HK$9.3 million and HK$155.2 million 

respectively).

The Group did not carry out any hedging for its floating rate borrowings.

Capital commitments

As at 30 June 2015 and 2014, the Group had outstanding commitments in respect of future minimum lease 

payments under non-cancellable lease of approximately HK$0.9 million and HK$2.2 million, respectively.

As at 30 June 2015, the Group had outstanding commitments in respect of acquisition of motor vehicles of 

approximately HK$1.4 million (2014: nil).

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s business operations were conducted in Hong Kong. The transactions, monetary assets and 

liabilities of the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar. With the insignificant portion of monetary 

assets denominated in foreign currencies, the Group did not engage in the any derivatives agreement and did not 

commit to any financial instruments to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the Period.

Gearing ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total debts divided by the total equity. The gearing ratio was 

approximately 12.7% and 15.1% as at 30 June 2015 and 2014, respectively. The decrease in gearing ratio is due 

to decrease in bank borrowings and increase in total equity during the Period.
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Charge over assets of the Group

As at 30 June 2015, the Group had approximately HK$5.0 million (2014: HK$5.0 million) pledged bank deposits 

to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group.

As at 30 June 2015, the Group had approximately HK$1.4 million (2014: HK$1.6 million) motor vehicles held 

under finance leases.

Significant investments, acquisitions and disposals

Apart from the reorganisation in relation to the Listing (as set out under the section headed “History and 

Development” and the paragraph headed “Corporate Reorganisation” in Appendix IV to the prospectus of the 

Company dated 31 December 2014 (the “Prospectus”)), there were no significant investments held, material 

acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group during the Period. Save for the 

business plan as disclosed in the Prospectus, there was no plan for material investments or capital assets as at 

30 June 2015.

Contingent liabilities

One subsidiary of the Company is a defendant in a number of claims, lawsuits and potential claims relating 

to employees’ compensation cases and personal injuries claims. The Directors considered that the possibility 

of any outflow in settling the legal claims was remote as these claims were well covered by insurance and 

subcontractors’ indemnity. Accordingly, no provision for the contingent liabilities in respect of the litigations is 

necessary, after due consideration of each case and with reference to the legal opinion.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2015 (2014: nil).

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 30 June 2015, the Group had approximately 127 employees (2014: 116). The staff related costs included 

salaries, wages and other staff benefits, contributions and retirement schemes (Information on the Group’s 

retirement benefits plans are set out in Note 30 to the Financial Statements), provisions for staff long service 

payment and untaken paid leave. The Group recruits and promotes individuals based on their performance and 

development potential in the positions held. In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable smooth 

operations within the Group, the Group offered competitive remuneration packages (with reference to market 

conditions and individual qualifications and experience) and various in-house training courses. The remuneration 

packages were subject to review on a regular basis. The emoluments of the Directors and senior management 

have been reviewed by the remuneration committee of the Company, having regard to the Company’s operating 

results, market competitiveness, individual performance and achievement, and approved by the Board.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Period (2014: nil).



YAT SING HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2015 11

Management Discussion and Analysis

Use of proceeds from the initial public offering

Our Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 14 January 2015. The total net proceeds from the initial public 

offering amounted to approximately HK$64.5 million.

As stated in the Prospectus, the Company intends to apply the net proceeds in the following manner:

• bridge the timing difference in progress payment of the renovation works of a renovation term contract with 

an education institution that our Company is aiming to secure;

• bridge the timing difference in progress payment of the funding requirement of DTC that our Company will 

bid for;

• bridge the timing difference in progress payment of a new renovation project of a private residential estate 

that our Company is aiming to secure;

• purchase of paints in relation to the redecoration works of a public housing estate, which will involve 

repainting of public housing buildings;

• towards our renovation project involving the conversion of usage of an industrial building;

• upgrade our information technology applications;

• repayment of our bank loans; and

• our Group’s general working capital.

The use of proceeds has been consistent with the disclosures in the Prospectus.

The total net proceeds received were applied by the Group during the period from the Listing Date up to 30 June 

2015 (the “Review Period”) are as follows:

 Planned use Actual use

 of proceeds as of proceeds

 stated in the during the Unused

Use of net proceeds: Prospectus Review Period amount

 HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

Renovation term contract with an education institution 5.9 – 5.9

Funding requirement of DTC 6.7 2.6 4.1

New renovation project of a private residential estate 6.5 – 6.5

Redecoration works of a public housing estate 3.2 0.8 2.4

Renovation project involving the conversion

 of usage of an industrial building 29.3 14.1 15.2

Upgrade our information technology applications 1.1 0.4 0.7

Repayment of bank loans 5.4 2.5 2.9

Our Group’s general working capital 6.4 5.1 1.3
   

 64.5 25.5 39.0
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIU Winson Wing Sun （廖永燊先生）, aged 39, is an executive Director and our Chairman. Mr. Liu is one of 

our controlling shareholders. Mr. Liu is also a director of ABO Group Limited (“ABO”) and Sing Fat Construction 

Company, Limited (“Sing Fat Construction”), which are two subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 13 years of 

experience in building maintenance and renovation contracting service industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Liu is primarily 

responsible for the overall management, strategic planning and business development of our Group. He is also 

our safety director who is responsible for overseeing all occupational health, safety and environmental matters 

of our Group. Mr. Liu also acts as one of our construction managers for project execution in respect of some of 

our projects. Mr. Liu joined our Group as a works coordinator in March 2002 and has been promoted to safety 

director in November 2005 and construction manager in January 2009. Prior to joining our Group in March 2002, 

he worked as an assistant valuer at the Associated Surveyors and Auctioneers Limited, a company principally 

engaged in property valuation and auctioneering services where he was responsible for providing assistance in 

property valuation and preparation of valuation reports.

Mr. Liu graduated from the University of Technology, Sydney in Australia in May 1999 with a Bachelor of Land 

Economics. He further obtained his diploma in construction, a distance learning course organised by the College 

of Estate Management in England in February 2004 and a professional diploma in corporate governance and 

directorship from the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in November 2008. Mr. Liu was admitted as an incorporate 

member of the Chartered Institute of Building in June 2004 and a member of the Australian Institute of Building 

in September 2007. He was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers in 

January 2009 and an associate of the Australian Property Institute in February 2011.

Mr. Liu is the son of Mr. Liu Su Ke, who is one of our controlling shareholders and a non-executive Director.

Mr. KAN Yiu Keung （簡耀強先生）, aged 48, is an executive Director and our chief executive officer (“Chief 

Executive Officer”). Mr. Kan is one of our controlling shareholders. He has over 30 years of experience in building 

maintenance and renovation contracting service industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Kan is primarily responsible for 

general management and day-to-day operation of our Group. He is a director of ABO and Sing Fat Construction 

and also our project director of our Group who is responsible for overseeing all projects with public sector 

customers, project management and monitoring the progress of all projects for public sector customers. Mr. Kan 

joined our Group as a project director in September 2000. Prior to joining our Group, he worked as a director of 

Rich China Engineering Limited (a subcontractor for building maintenance projects) from April 1998 to August 

2000. From May 1994 to March 1998, he worked as a director of Jetkind Construction Engineering Limited 

which is also a subcontractor for building maintenance projects. From March 1991 to April 1994, he worked 

in Shing Kai Engineering Company as a site agent where he was mainly responsible for on-site management 

of building maintenance projects. From August 1985 to February 1991, he worked as a foreman for Shing 

Kai Engineering Company. Mr. Kan completed his secondary education and graduated from Sham Shui Po 

Secondary School in July 1985. He completed Site Safety Management Course and Accident Prevention Course 

organised by the University of Hong Kong in October and November 2004. Mr. Kan was admitted as a corporate 

member of the Asia Institute of Building in April 2009.

Mr. Kan Yiu Keung is the brother of Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok, who is one of our controlling shareholders and a non-

executive Director.
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Mr. CHAN Lo Kin （陳勞健先生）, aged 62, is an executive Director. Mr. Chan is one of our controlling shareholders. 

He has over 37 years of experience in building maintenance and renovation contracting service industry in Hong 

Kong. Mr. Chan is primarily responsible for day-to-day operation of our Group. He is a director of ABO and Sing 

Fat Construction and also our administration director who is our management representative responsible for 

managing our management system in accordance with ISO9001:2008 standards and requirements. Mr. Chan 

joined our Group as a director of Sing Fat Construction in March 1992. Prior to joining our Group, he worked 

as a director of Chuen Shing Construction Company Limited from February 1991 to until August 2007. From 

October 1978 to January 1991, he worked as a general manager responsible for accounting matters of a sole 

proprietorship established in Hong Kong, which was principally engaged in metal works engineering. Mr. Chan 

graduated from Yuet Wah College in (Macao) in June 1976.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIU Su Ke（廖澍基先生）, aged 79, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Liu is one of our controlling shareholders. 

He has over 54 years of experience in building construction industry and over 20 years of experience in building 

maintenance and renovation contracting service industry in Hong Kong and his views and insights are invaluable 

to our Group. Mr. Liu has assumed a non-executive role in the Board and did not participate in the day-to-day 

operation and management of our Group. Mr. Liu joined our Group as a construction manager and a director of 

Sing Fat Construction in November 1972. Mr. Liu is also a director of ABO. Prior to joining our Group, he worked 

as a subcontractor for building construction projects from 1962 to 1972. He worked as a foreman at a Hong 

Kong company engaged in building construction projects between 1961 and 1962. Mr. Liu completed a High 

Certificate of Building Contractors’ Apprentice Foreman Course organized by Hong Kong Technical College in 

July 1959 and passed the intermediate examination in builder’s quantities of the City & Guilds of London Institute 

in 1958. Mr. Liu was admitted as a fellow class member of Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers in May 

1997.

Mr. Liu is the father of Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun, who is one of our controlling shareholders, an executive Director 

and Chairman of the Company.

Mr. KAN Yiu Kwok （簡耀國先生）, aged 50, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 6 October 2014. Mr. 

Kan is one of our controlling shareholders. He has served as a director of Sing Fat Construction since September 

2000. Mr. Kan did not participate in the day-to-day management and operation of our Group. Since March 

2000, he has been the managing director of Ying Wah Securities Company Limited, a licenced corporation to 

carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”). Mr. 

Kan worked as a director of Rich China Engineering Limited (a subcontractor for building maintenance projects) 

from April 1998 to August 2000. From May 1994 to March 1998 he worked as director of Jetkind Construction 

Engineering Limited which is also a subcontractor for building maintenance and renovation service. From March 

1991 to April 1994, he worked as a partner at Kai Shing Construction Company (a company primarily engaged 

in subcontracting works on building maintenance). Mr. Kan has been the vice-chairman of Guangzhou Haizhu 

Overseas Friendship Liaison Association since October 2009 which is an association for liaison with overseas 

Chinese. Mr. Kan studied in Lui Ming Choi Lutheran College from 1979 to 1981.

Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok is the brother of Mr. Kan Yiu Keung, who is one of our controlling shareholders and an 

executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. TONG Sze Wan （唐詩韻女士）, aged 43, is an independent non-executive Director. Ms. Tong has over 19 years 

of experience in auditing and accounting. From November 2002 to March 2014, Ms. Tong was the company 

secretary of Jiangsu Nandasoft Technology Company Limited (a H-share company listed on the Growth 

Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8045) which is primarily engaged in the development, 

manufacturing and marketing of network security software, internet application software, educational software 

and business application software). Ms. Tong was an accounting manager from September 1998 to May 2000 

in Dong-Jun Holdings Limited (now known as Heritage International Holdings Limited), a company listed on the 

Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 412) and is principally engaged in property development). She 

had also worked at Ernst & Young as an auditor during the period from August 1995 to October 1998. Ms. Tong 

graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a Bachelor in Accounting in November 1995. She is also an 

associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since February 2001 and a fellow 

member of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since November 2003.

Mr. LAM Yiu Por （林曉波先生）, aged 39, is an independent non-executive Director of our Company. Mr. Lam 

has more than 16 years of experience in the field of finance and accounting. He has been the vice president and 

chief financial officer of L’sea Resources International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board 

of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 195), primarily engaged in mining and sales of tin metal) since November 

2013 where he was responsible for functions of accounting, corporate finance and corporate communications. 

Mr. Lam graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy in 

November 1997. He is also a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a certified 

public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a chartered financial analyst of the 

CFA Institute and an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute 

of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. From June 2012 to February 2014, Mr. Lam was an independent 

non-executive director of GR Properties Limited (formerly known as “Buildmore International Company Limited”), 

a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 108) and primarily engaged in property 

investment and hotel management.

Mr. KWONG Ping Man （鄺炳文先生）, aged 51, is an independent non-executive Director. He has over 18 

years of experience in accounting and administration. He is the managing director of O’park Corporate Services 

Ltd., a company primarily engaged in corporate consulting service such as providing accounting and company 

secretary services, since May 2007. Mr. Kwong graduated from Curtin University of Technology in Australia 

with a Bachelor of Commerce Accounting in August 1996. He obtained a Postgraduate Diploma in Corporate 

Administration and a master’s degree of Professional Accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 

November 1998 and November 2003, respectively. He is also a certified practising accountant of the Australian 

Society of Certified Practising Accountants, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants, an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries and The Institute of 

Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He has currently served as an independent non-executive director of 

five listed companies including Elegance Optical International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main 

Board (stock code: 907) and primarily engaged in manufacturing and trading of optical frames, sunglasses and 

optical cases) since May 2014; Tang Palace (China) Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board 

(stock code: 1181) and primarily engaged in restaurant operations and food productions) since March 2011; 

Century Sunshine Ecological Technology Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board (stock code: 

509) and primarily engaged in fertiliser business, magnesium product business and metallurgical flux) since 

September 2004 and Group Sense (International) Limited (a company listed on the Main Board (stock code: 601) 

and engaged in the design, manufacture and sale of ODM, electronic dictionary and personal communication 

products, and the provision of electronic manufacturing services) since March 2015. From March 2009 to April 

2012, Mr. Kwong also served as an independent non-executive director of Jiu Rong Holdings Limited (formerly 

known as “Mitsumaru East Kit (Holdings) Limited”), a company listed on the Main Board (stock code: 2358) and 

primarily engaged in design, assembly and installation of water meter and TV business.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHEUNG Yat Ming （張日銘先生）, aged 52, is the authorised signatory technical director and construction 

engineer of our Group. Mr. Cheung joined our Group as a technical director and construction engineer in August 

1999. He has over 16 years of experience in construction engineering. Mr. Cheung is responsible for overseeing 

the engineering operations and the technical aspect of various projects. Prior to joining our Group, he worked as 

an engineer at Wong & Ouyang (Civil-Structural Engineering) Limited where he was responsible for engineering 

design work for various projects undertaken from September 1994 to December 1998. Mr. Cheung graduated 

from the University of Sheffield in England in July 1994 with a Bachelor of Engineering. Mr. Cheung is a registered 

professional engineer of the Hong Kong Engineers Registration Board. He is also a member of the Hong Kong 

Institution of Engineers.

Mr. LEE Yiu Hung （李耀雄先生）, aged 52, is the safety manager of our Group. He has over 16 years of 

experience in safety management in construction projects. Mr. Lee is responsible for implementing and 

developing our safety and environmental management system and monitoring compliance of occupational 

health, safety and environmental compliance. Mr. Lee joined our Group as a safety supervisor in May 2008 and 

was promoted to safety officer in May 2009. He was further promoted to safety manager in 2013. Prior to joining 

our Group in May 2008, he worked as a safety supervisor at Jet Consultant Limited where he was responsible for 

assisting safety officer to implement site safety measures and monitor day-to-day site safety management from 

August 2002 to May 2008. Mr. Lee graduated from China University of Geoscience, Wuhan in April 2004 with a 

diploma in safety engineering and completed the Professional Auditing Safety Scheme (Safety Auditor Training 

Scheme) organised by the Hong Kong Safety Management Association in November 2010. Mr. Lee is a safety 

officer and safety auditor registered with the Labour Department.

Mr. NG Derek Sau Lai （伍守禮先生）, aged 49, was the financial controller of our Group from May 2014 to 

June 2015. He was responsible for overseeing the financial operations of our Group. Since December 2011, 

Mr. Ng has been the financial consultant of Remark Media, Inc, a global digital media company which is listed 

on The NASDAQ Capital Market (NASDAQ code: Mark) with focus on compelling content, trusted brands and 

valuable resources for customers. Mr. Ng obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in February 

1990 from the University of Massachusetts with a major in accounting and a minor in economics. Mr. Ng 

was an independent non-executive director of Jiangsu Nandasoft Technology Company Limited (a H-share 

company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8045), primarily engaged 

in the development, manufacturing and marketing of network security software, internet application software, 

educational software and business application software) between March 2013 and May 2014.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. SO Hau Kit （蘇巧潔女士）, aged 37, was appointed as the company secretary of our Company on 17 

December 2014. Ms. So is a director of Wonder World Corporate Services Limited with over 10 years of 

experience in company secretarial services and commercial solutions. Ms. So is an associate member of 

The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries since October 2011 and also an associate member of The 

Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators since August 2011. She obtained a Master of Corporate 

Governance in June 2011 and a Bachelor of Business Administration in December 2008 from the Open 

University, Hong Kong. Ms. So is also the company secretary of King Force Security Holdings Limited, a 

company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8315) and is principally 

engaged in provision of security guarding services and LEAP Holdings Group Limited, a company listed on the 

Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1499) principally engaged in the provision of (i) foundation 

works and ancillary services; and (ii) construction wastes handling at facilities managed by the Government in 

Hong Kong.
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The Board is pleased to present their first report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of 

the Group for the Period (the “Financial Statements”) since the Listing Date.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated on 17 September 2014 in the Cayman Islands. Pursuant to the group 

reorganization to rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for its initial public offering and the Listing, 

the Company became the holding company of the companies now comprising the Group. Details of the group 

reorganisation during the Period are set out in Note 26 to the Financial Statements.

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong and has its principal place of business at 23/F, China United Plaza, 

1008 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out 

in Note 37 to the Financial Statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal 

activities during the Period.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Period are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income on page 39 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Period.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) to be 

held on 20 November 2015 (Friday), the register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 

18 November 2015 to Friday, 20 November 2015, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares 

will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of Shares accompanied by the 

relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, 

Union Registrars Limited, at A18/F, Asia Orient Tower, Town Place, 33 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong for 

registration not later than 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 17 November 2015.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Period are set out in consolidated statement of changes in 

equity on page 42 of this annual report.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 30 June 2015 amounted to approximately HK$60.9 million.
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DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Period amounted to HK$1.0 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 15 to the Financial 

Statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries during the Period are set out in Note 37 to the Financial 

Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company’s total issued share capital as at 30 June 2015 was 1,118,800,000 ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 

per Share.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Period are set out in Note 26 to the Financial 

Statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings of the Group as at 30 June 2015 are set out in Note 22 to the Financial Statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the memorandum and articles of association of the Company 

and there was no restriction against such rights under the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the 

Company to offer new Share on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the sole shareholder of the Company on 18 December 2014, the Company 

adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) to attract and retain high quality staff, to provide additional 

incentive to employees (full-time or part-time), directors, consultants or advisors, distributors, contractors, 

suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or service providers of the Group and to promote the success 

of the business of the Group.
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The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to 

exceed 10% of the Shares in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the Shareholders. The number 

of Shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted to any individual in 

any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at any point in time, without prior approval 

from the Shareholders. Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive Directors or 

any of their respective close associates (including a discretionary trust whose discretionary objects include a 

substantial shareholders, independent non-executive Directors, or any of their respective close associates) in any 

12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must 

be approved in advance by the Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made, upon 

payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised at any time during a period as the Directors may 

determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The exercise price is determined by the 

Directors, and will be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the date of grant, (ii) the average 

closing price of the Shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal 

value of the Share.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing on the date on the adoption date (i.e. 18 

December 2014) and shall expire at the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the tenth 

anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier by the Shareholders in general meeting.

No share options were granted since the adoption of the Scheme and there are no outstanding share options at 

the end of each reporting period. A summary of the principal terms and conditions of the Scheme is set out in 

Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last four financial years is set out on 

page 94 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, neither the Company nor any of its 

subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Review Period and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun (Chairman)  (appointed as a Director on 17 September 2014 and re-

designated as an executive Director on 6 October 2014)

Mr. Kan Yiu Keung (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 6 October 2014)

Mr. Chan Lo Kin (appointed on 6 October 2014)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Su Ke (appointed on 6 October 2014)

Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok (appointed on 6 October 2014)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Tong Sze Wan (appointed on 17 December 2014)

Mr. Kwong Ping Man (appointed on 17 December 2014)

Mr. Lam Yiu Por (appointed on 17 December 2014)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the 

Company from the Listing Date to the date of the AGM to be held in 2017.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company 

commencing from the Listing Date to the date of the AGM to be held in 2016.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a contract of service with the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries not determinable by the employing company within one year without payment of compensation 

(except for statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group are determined by the remuneration 

committee of the Company with reference to their relevant qualifications, experience, competence and the 

prevailing market conditions. None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the Period.
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Senior management’s remuneration of the Group during the Period falls within the following bands:

 No. of individuals

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals during the Period are set out in Notes 

11 and 12 to the Financial Statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No management contracts concerning the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were 

entered into or existed during the Period.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ AND DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 

ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the sub-sections headed “Connected Transactions” and “Significant Events After The 

Reporting Period” below, and “Related Party Transactions” in Note 35 to the Financial Statements, there were 

no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the 

Company or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director and the Director’s 

connected party or a controlling shareholder had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 

the end of the Period and up to the date of this annual report or at any time during the Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than those disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option Scheme” and “Directors and Chief 

Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or any 

of its Associated Corporations”, at no time during the Period there were rights to acquire benefits by means 

of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective close 

associates, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any of 

its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement whose objectives are to enable a Director 

to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body 

corporate.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and senior management of the Group as at the date of this 

annual report are set out on pages 12 to 15 of this annual report.



YAT SING HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2015 21

Directors’ Report

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF DIRECTORS

During the Review Period and up to the date of this annual report, there was no change to information which is 

required to be disclosed and has been disclosed by Directors pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Rules Governing 

the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED 

CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2015, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the 

Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning 

of Part XV of the SFO) which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 

7 and 8 of the SFO (including interest or short positions which they had taken or deemed to have under such 

provisions of the SFO), or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 

of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for 

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing 

Rules were as follows:

Long position in the Shares

  Number of Shares  Percentage 

Name of Director Capacity/Nature held/interested of interest

Mr. Liu Su Ke Interest of a controlled corporation (Note) 839,100,000 75%

Long position in the ordinary shares of associated corporation

 Name of associated   Number of Shares  Percentage of 

Name of Director corporation Capacity/Nature held/interested interest (approx.)

Mr. Liu Su Ke Profound Union Limited  Beneficial owner 18,058 40.31%

  (“Profound”)

Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun Profound Beneficial owner 2,500 5.58%

Mr. Kan Yiu Keung Profound Beneficial owner 5,000 11.16%

Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok Profound Beneficial owner 5,000 11.16%

Note: These Shares are held by Profound, the entire issued share capital of which is legally and beneficially owned as to approximately 40.31% 

by Mr. Liu Su Ke, approximately 14.52% by Mr. Lai Kwan Hin, approximately 11.16% by Mr. Kan Yiu Keung, approximately 11.16% 

by Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok, approximately 6.42% by Mr. Kan Man Hoo, approximately 5.80% by Mr. Yau Shik Fan, Eddy, approximately 

5.58% by Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun and approximately 5.04% by Mr. Chan Lo Kin. Therefore, Mr. Liu Su Ke is deemed, or taken to be, 

interested in all Shares held by Profound for the purpose of the SFO. Each of Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun, Mr. Liu Su Ke, Mr. Chan Lo Kin 

and Mr. Kan Yiu Keung is a director of Profound.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2015, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had 

or was deemed to have any interests or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the 

Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be 

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 

interest or short positions which they had taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which 

were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were 

required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2015, so far as is known to the Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or chief 

executive of the Company) have interest or short position in Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be 

disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO 

or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register of the Company 

referred to therein:

  Number of Shares  Percentage 

Name Capacity/Nature held/interested of interest

Profound Beneficial owner 839,100,000 75%

Ms. Ho Fung Chun Interest of Spouse (Note) 839,100,000 75%

Note: Ms. Ho Fung Chun is the spouse of Mr. Liu Su Ke. Accordingly, Ms. Ho Fung Chun is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all Shares 

in which Mr. Liu Su Ke is interested in for the purpose of the SFO.

MAJOR SUBCONTRACTORS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Period, the largest subcontractor accounted for approximately 30.5% (2014: 26.3%) of the Group’s 

total costs of services and the five largest subcontractors accounted for approximately 66.3% (2014: 61.4%) of 

the Group’s total costs of services. The largest customer accounted for approximately 63.9% (2014: 60.8%) of 

the Group’s total revenue and the five largest customers accounted for approximately 95.7% (2014: 95.7%) of 

the Group’s total revenue.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors, or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of 

the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) and their respective close associates has an 

interest in the Group’s five largest subcontractors and customers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Period, the Group had the following continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules:

Exempt Continuing Connected Transaction

The following transaction, which constitutes continuing connected transaction exempt from all reporting, 

annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval (including independent financial advice) 

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Lease agreement with Mega Billion Investment Limited (“Mega Billion”)

On 27 June 2014, Sing Fat Construction, as tenant, entered into a lease agreement with Mega Billion, as 

landlord, for a term commencing from 1 July 2014 and ending on 30 June 2016 in respect of the office premises 

located at Workshops 1, 2, 3, 5, 6 and 7, 23/F, China United Plaza, 1008 Tai Nan West Street, Kowloon, Hong 

Kong (“Office Premises”) with a total gross floor area of approximately 4,400 square feet for use by our Group as 

office at a monthly rental of HK$75,000 (which was arrived at after arm’s length negotiations between Sing Fat 

Construction and Mega Billion with reference to the prevailing market rent of the surrounding comparable office 

premises in the vicinity of the Office Premises based on the valuation of an independent valuer appointed by our 

Group).

Mega Billion is owned as to approximately 5.04% by Mr. Chan Lo Kin, approximately 6.42% by Mr. Kan Man 

Hoo, approximately 11.16% by Mr. Kan Yiu Keung, approximately 11.16% by Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok, approximately 

14.52% by Mr. Lai Kwan Hin, approximately 40.31% by Mr. Liu Su Ke, approximately 5.58% by Mr. Liu Winson 

Wing Sun and approximately 5.80% by Mr. Yau Shik Fan, Eddy. Each of Mr. Chan Lo Kin, Mr. Liu Su Ke, Mr. Liu 

Winson Wing Sun and Mr. Kan Yiu Keung is also a director of Mega Billion. As confirmed by our Directors, except 

for holding of the Office Premises, Mega Billion has no other substantial operations up to the date of this annual 

report.

As Mega Billion is owned by our controlling shareholders and Mr. Chan Lo Kin, Mr. Liu Su Ke, Mr. Liu Winson 

Wing Sun, Mr. Kan Yiu Keung and Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok are our Directors, Mega Billion is a connected person of our 

Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transaction under the lease agreement constitutes continuing 

connected transaction of our Company under the Listing Rules.

Our Directors (including our independent non-executive Directors) are of the view that the lease agreement 

has been entered into on normal commercial terms, on arm’s length basis, in the ordinary and usual course of 

business of our Group and that the terms of the lease agreement are fair and reasonable and in the interests of 

our Shareholders as a whole.

The rental payable by our Group on an annual basis under the lease agreement will be HK$0.9 million for each 

of the two years ending 30 June 2016.

Since each of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) on an annual basis is less than 5% and 

the annual consideration payable under the lease agreement is less than HK$3.0 million, the lease agreement is 

fully exempt from all reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval (including 

independent financial advice) requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In addition to the above, the Group had entered into certain transactions with connected persons as defined 

under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in the Period which would be regarded as connected transactions under 

the Listing Rules if they are continued after the Listing. All such transactions were terminated and not continued 

after the Listing. Please refer to Notes 25 and 34(a) to “Appendix I — Accountant’s Report” of the Prospectus for 

further details of such transactions.

Except for the above, the Directors confirm that the Group does not have other connected transactions and 

continuing connected transactions as defined under the Listing Rules and have therefore complied with the 

disclosure requirement in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The related party transactions of the Company are set out in Note 35 to the Financial Statements. Apart from the 

continuing connected transactions disclosed above, all the other related party transactions did not fall under the 

scope of “Connected Transactions” or “Continuing Connected Transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing 

Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ 

approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as 

at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the percentage of public float as prescribed in the 

Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Period is included in the Management Discussion and Analysis in this 

annual report on page 6.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates is or was interested in any business apart from the 

Group’s business that competes or competed or is or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the 

Group’s business at any time during the Period and up to the date of this annual report.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

In order to avoid any possible future competition between our Group and each of Mr. Liu Su Ke, Mr. Lai Kwan 

Hin, Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok, Mr. Kan Yiu Keung, Mr. Kan Man Hoo, Mr. Yau Shik Fan, Eddy, Mr. Liu Winson Wing 

Sun, Mr. Chan Lo Kin and Profound (the “Covenantors”), each of the Covenantors has executed a deed of non-

competition (collectively, the “Deeds”) on 18 December 2014 in favour of our Company (for itself and for the 

benefit of each other member of our Group). Pursuant to the Deeds, during the period that the Deeds remain 

effective, each of the Covenantors irrevocably and unconditionally undertakes to our Company (for itself and for 

the benefit of each other member of our Group) that he/it shall not, and shall procure his or its associates (other 

than members of our Group) not to, directly or indirectly engage, participate or hold any right or interest in or 

render any services to or otherwise be involved in any business in competition with or likely to be in competition 

with the existing business activity of any member of our Group.

The Covenantors have confirmed to the Company of their compliance with the Deeds for disclosure in this annual 

report during the Review Period up to the date of this annual report.

All the independent non-executive Directors are delegated with the authority to review the Deeds given by the 

Covenantors. The independent non-executive Directors were not aware of any non-compliance of the Deeds 

given by the Covenantors during the Review Period and up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of corporate governance practices. Information 

on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report 

on pages 27 to 36 of this annual report.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Placing of Shares by a controlling shareholder of the Company

On 23 July 2015, Profound entered into a share placing agreement with Sino Wealth Securities Limited (the 

“Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the Placing Agent had agreed to, on a best endeavor basis, find purchasers 

to purchase 60,000,000 Shares (the “Sale Shares”) from Profound at the price of HK$1.37 each (the “Placing”). 

The Sale Shares represented approximately 5.36% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 23 July 

2015.

Upon completion of the Placing on 24 July 2015, Profound was interested in approximately 69.64% of the issued 

share capital of the Company, and Mr. Liu Su Ke, Mr. Lai Kwan Hin, Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok, Mr. Kan Yiu Keung, Mr. 

Kan Man Hoo, Mr. Yau Shik Fan, Eddy, Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun, Mr. Chan Lo Kin and Profound remained as 

controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company.

For details of the transaction, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 23 July 2015 and 24 July 

2015.

Sale of Shares by a controlling shareholder of the Company

On 30 July 2015, Profound sold 180,000,000 Shares at the consideration of HK$1 per Share (the “Sale”) to 

purchasers each of whom is a third party independent of the Company and its connected persons (as defined in 

the Listing Rules). The said 180,000,000 Shares represented approximately 16.09% of the issued share capital 

of the Company as at 30 July 2015.

Immediately following the Sale, Profound was interested in approximately 53.55% of the issued share capital 

of the Company, and Mr. Liu Su Ke, Mr. Lai Kwan Hin, Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok, Mr. Kan Yiu Keung, Mr. Kan Man 

Hoo, Mr. Yau Shik Fan, Eddy, Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun, Mr. Chan Lo Kin and Profound remained as controlling 

shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company. None of the purchasers of the Sale become a 

substantial shareholder of the Company as a result of the Sale.

For details of the transaction, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 July 2015.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee had reviewed, together with the management and external auditor, the accounting 

principles and policies adopted by the Group and the audited consolidated financial statements for the Period.
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AUDITOR

The Financial Statements have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, who shall retire in the 

forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution to re-appoint SHINEWING 

(HK) CPA Limited as our auditor will be submitted for Shareholders’ approval at our forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 September 2015



YAT SING HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2015 27

Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has a policy of seeking to comply with established best practice in corporate governance. The 

Board believes that good corporate governance is crucial to improving the efficiency and performance of the 

Group and to safeguarding the interests of its Shareholders.

The Company has adopted and complied with all code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out under the 

Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Review 

Period.

The Directors will carry out a regular review on the Company’s corporate governance policies and will propose 

any amendment, if necessary, to ensure compliance with the Code Provisions from time to time.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the 

“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct of the Company for Directors’ 

securities transactions. The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and the relevant employees 

regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code during the Review Period, and they have all confirmed that 

they had fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code.

Securities Transactions by Senior Management and Staff

The senior management and staff have been individually notified and advised about the Model Code by the 

Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight Directors, including three executive Directors, two non-

executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The list of Directors is set out in the 

section headed “Directors’ Report” of this annual report.

There is a balance of skills and experience for the Board, which is appropriate for the requirements of the 

business of the Company. The Directors’ biographical information is set out in the section headed “Biographies 

of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Save as Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun, who is the son of Mr. Liu Su Ke and Mr. Kan Yiu Keung, who is the brother of 

Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok, the Directors have no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship with 

each other.
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Pursuant to the code provision A.5.6 of the CG Code, listed issuers are required to adopt a board diversity 

policy. The Board has adopted the board diversity policy with a view to achieve a sustainable and balanced 

development of the Group. In designing the Board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from 

a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, 

professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on 

meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of 

diversity on the Board. This diversity policy is reviewed annually by the nomination committee of the Company, 

and where appropriate, revisions will be made with the approval from the Board.

Role and function

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and performance monitoring of the Group. It delegates 

day-to-day operations of the Company to the senior management within the control and authority framework set 

by the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the each of the Company’s 

audit committee (“Audit Committee”), nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”) and remuneration 

committee (“Remuneration Committee”). Further details of these committees are set out in the sections headed 

“Audit Committee”, “Nomination Committee” and “Remuneration Committee” below.

Board meetings

The Board met regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategy to monitor the operation and financial 

performance of the Group. Pursuant to Code Provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board should meet regularly 

and Board meetings should be held as at least four times a year. Additional meetings would be arranged if and 

when required. Directors may participate either in person or through electronic means of communications.

During the Review Period, a total of three (3) Board meetings were held and the attendance records are as 

follows:

Name of Director Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun (Chairman) 3/3

Mr. Kan Yiu Keung (Chief Executive Officer) 3/3

Mr. Chan Lo Kin 3/3

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Su Ke 3/3

Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok 3/3

INEDs

Ms. Tong Sze Wan 2/2

Mr. Kwong Ping Man 2/2

Mr. Lam Yiu Por 2/2
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Independent non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the Company has currently appointed three INEDs for 

a term commencing from the Listing Date and up to the AGM of the Company to be held in 2016 which may be 

terminated earlier by no less than six months written notice served by either party on the other.

All of the three INEDs have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management 

expertise. Every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance with 

the memorandum and articles of association of the Company.

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant 

to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the INEDS are independent.

The INEDs are considered by the Board to be independent of the management and free of any relationship that 

could materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgments. The Board considered that each of 

the INEDs brings his/her own relevant expertise to the Board and its deliberations. None of the INEDs has any 

business or financial interests with the Group nor has any relationship with other Directors.

Directors’ training and professional development

In compliance with Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, the Group has provided funding to all the Directors to 

participate in continuous professional development organised in the form of in-house training and seminars to 

keep them refreshed of their knowledge and skills and understanding of the Group and its business to update 

their skills and knowledge on the latest development or changes in the relevant statutes, the Listing Rules and 

corporate governance practices. The Company will also update the Directors of any material changes in the 

Listing Rules and corporate governance practices from time to time.
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The training each Director received during the Review Period is summarized as below:

  Attending

  in-house training/

 Reading materials seminars relevant to

 regarding regulatory the Company’s business,

 update and corporate Listing Rules compliance

Name of Director governance matters and risk management

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun (Chairman)  

Mr. Kan Yiu Keung (Chief Executive Officer)  

Mr. Chan Lo Kin  

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Su Ke  

Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok  

INEDs

Ms. Tong Sze Wan  

Mr. Kwong Ping Man  

Mr. Lam Yiu Por  

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provisions A.2.1 of CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and 

should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun serves as the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun is responsible for 

overall business strategy and major business decisions of the Group. Mr. Kan Yiu Keung serves as the Chief 

Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Kan Yiu Keung is responsible for general management and day-to-day 

operation of the Group.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 17 December 2014. The Nomination 

Committee has from time to time identified individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and make 

recommendations to the Board. The main consideration in selecting candidates for directorships is whether their 

characters, qualifications and experiences are appropriate for the businesses of the Group.

Save and except Mr. Ge Jin, each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has entered into a 

service contract with the Company from the Listing Date to the date of the AGM in 2017.
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Mr. Ge Jin has entered into a service contract with the Company commencing from 30 September 2015 to the 

date of the AGM in 2016.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company 

commencing from the Listing Date to the date of the AGM in 2016.

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual general meeting, 

at least one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number 

nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be 

subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun, Mr. Kan Yiu Keung, Mr. Chan Lo Kin and Mr. Ge Jin will retire from office as Directors 

at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and 

Remuneration Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees 

of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board 

committees are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and are available to 

Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 17 December 2014 in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules 

with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. Our Audit Committee consists of Ms. Tong 

Sze Wan, Mr. Kwong Ping Man and Mr. Lam Yiu Por. Currently, Ms. Tong Sze Wan is the chairman of the Audit 

Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include:

– reviewing our Company’s annual financial statements;

– reviewing and monitoring the extent of the non-audit work undertaken by external auditors;

– advising on the appointment of external auditors; and

– reviewing the effectiveness of our Company’s internal audit activities, internal controls and risk 

management systems.

During the Review Period, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit Committee’s view on the re-

appointment of the external auditor. This annual report has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

During the Review Period, the Audit Committee held one (1) meeting. Subsequent to the end of the Review 

Period and up to the date of this annual report, a meeting of the Audit Committee was held on 29 September 

2015 to review the Group’s financial result for the Period for submission to the Board for approval, review internal 

control and risk management system of the Group, oversee the audit process and make recommendation on the 

reappointment of the external auditors.
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Attendance at meeting of the Audit Committee during the Review Period is as follows:

Name of Director Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

INEDs

Ms. Tong Sze Wan 1/1

Mr. Kwong Ping Man 1/1

Mr. Lam Yiu Por 1/1

Nomination Committee

Nomination Committee was established on 17 December 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance 

with the CG Code. Our Nomination Committee consists of Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun, Ms. Tong Sze Wan and Mr. 

Kwong Ping Man. Currently, Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include:

– assisting our Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to the composition of our Board;

– evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on our Board;

– evaluating the size, structure and composition of our Board; and

– evaluating the retirements and appointments of additional and replacement Directors and making 

appropriate recommendations to our Board on such matters.

During the Period, no meeting of the Nomination Committee was held since the Shares have just been listed 

on the Stock Exchange on 14 January 2015. However, subsequent to the Review Period and up to the date of 

this annual report, a meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held on 29 September 2015 to review the 

structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and the board 

diversity policy, assess the independence of INEDs and make recommendations to the Board on the proposal of 

re-appointment of Directors at the forthcoming AGM.

Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Committee was established on 17 December 2014 in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing 

Rules with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. Our Remuneration Committee consists 

of Mr. Lam Yiu Por, Ms. Tong Sze Wan and Mr. Chan Lo Kin. Currently, Mr. Lam Yiu Por is the chairman of the 

Remuneration Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include:

– making recommendations to our Board on our Company’s policy on executive Director’s remuneration;

– determining, the individual remuneration and benefits package of each of our executive Directors; and

– recommending and monitoring the remuneration of senior management below Board level.
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During the Period, no meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held since the Shares of the Company have 

just been listed on the Stock Exchange on 14 January 2015. However, subsequent to the Review Period and up 

to the date of this annual report, a meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held on 29 September 2015 to 

review the performance and remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 11 to the Financial Statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of Directors and their 

corporate governance duties include:

– to develop and review the policies and practices of the Company on corporate governance and make 

recommendations;

– to review and monitor the training and professional development of the Directors and senior management;

– to monitor and review the policies and practices of the Company in compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements;

– to develop, monitor and review the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to the Directors and 

employees; and

– to review the Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions of the CG Code and disclosure in the 

corporate governance report.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of 

the CG Code. As at the date of this report, the Board has reviewed and monitored: (a) the Company’s corporate 

governance policies and practices, (b) training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 

management, (c) the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (d) 

the Company’s code of conduct and (e) the Company’s compliance with the CG Code disclosures requirements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee of our Company is responsible for considering the appointment and re-election of our 

Company’s external auditor and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by the external auditor, including 

whether such non-audit functions could lead to any potential material adverse effect to our Company. During the 

Period, our Group is required to pay to our external auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, for the audit service 

in relation to the audit of annual consolidated financial statements for the Period of HK$0.9 million and non-audit 

services provided to the Group in respective to the Company’s preparation for the Listing and interim review of 

condensed consolidated financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2014 of approximately HK$1.9 

million, totaling HK$2.8 million in aggregate.
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FINANCIAL OFFICER

The financial officer of the Company is responsible for preparing interim and annual financial statements based 

on accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and ensures that the financial statements truly reflect 

the Group’s results and financial position as well as in compliance with the disclosure requirements under the 

applicable provisions of the Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and other relevant laws and regulations. The 

financial officer reports directly to the chairman of the Audit Committee and coordinates with external auditors on 

a regular basis. In addition, the financial officer will review the control of financial risks of the Group and provide 

advice thereon to the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary, Ms. So Hau Kit, was appointed by the Board on 17 December 2014. Ms. So is a director 

of Wonder World Corporate Services Limited and assists in company secretarial affairs of the Company. Ms. So’s 

primary contact person at the Company is the Chairman of the Company, Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun. Ms. So has 

confirmed that she has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the Review Period 

in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Her biographical details are set out in the section headed 

“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board and the senior management are responsible for maintaining, improving and monitoring the internal 

control of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets 

against unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of 

reliable financial information for internal use or for publication, and ensuring compliance of applicable laws, rules 

and regulations. The procedures provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses 

or fraud.

During the Review Period, the Board has reviewed, through the Audit Committee, the Group’s internal control 

system and is not aware of any significant issues that would have an adverse impact on the effectiveness and 

adequacy of the internal control system.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the 

Group and to ensure that the financial statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which give a true and 

fair view of the state of affairs of the Group on a going concern basis and are in compliance with the relevant 

accounting standards and principals, applicable laws and disclosure provisions required of the Listing Rules. In 

presenting the financial statements, announcements and other financial disclosures required under the Listing 

Rules, the Directors aim to present to a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the position and 

prospects of the Group. The Directors are of the view that the financial statements of the Group for each financial 

year have been prepared on this basis. The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to 

events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditors of the Company and the Group regarding their reporting responsibilities on the 

financial statements of the Company and the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 37 

and 38 of this annual report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

General meeting

The general meeting of the Company provides an opportunity for communication between the Shareholders and 

the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and 

Remuneration Committee, or in their absence, their duly appointed delegates are available to answer questions 

at the Shareholders’ meetings. The auditor of the Company is also invited to attend the Company’s AGM and is 

available to assist the Directors in addressing queries from the Shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit 

and the preparation and contents of the Independent Auditor’s Report. Separate resolutions are proposed at the 

AGM on each substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors.

Notice of the AGM together with related papers are sent to the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days prior 

to the meeting, setting out details of each proposed resolution, voting procedures and other relevant information. 

At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless 

a poll is demanded or otherwise required under the Listing Rules, in accordance with Article 72 of the articles of 

association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”). The Chairman will explain such rights and procedures 

during the AGM before voting on the resolutions.

Shareholders can make a requisition to convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) pursuant to Article 64 

of the Articles of Association of the Company. The procedures for the Shareholders to convene an EGM are as 

follows:

1. Any one or more Shareholders (the “Requisitionist”) holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not 

less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings 

shall have the right, by written notice, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any 

business specified in such requisition.

2. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such 

deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the Requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) 

may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) shall be 

reimbursed by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a Shareholder should lodge a written notice of 

his/her proposal (the “Proposal”) together his/her detailed contact information at the Company’s principal place 

of business in Hong Kong at 23/F, China United Plaza, 1008 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, 

Hong Kong in the same manner as set out above.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation 

that the request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda for the 

general meeting.
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The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder 

concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

– At least 21 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires approval by way of a special resolution of the 

Company in an EGM or resolution of the Company in an AGM.

– At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires approval in any other EGM.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company aims to promote and maintain effective communications with Shareholders and potential investors 

to ensure that the information of the Group is disseminated to Shareholders and potential investors in a timely 

manner and enable them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise performance.

Extensive information on the activities of the Group and financial position will be disclosed in the annual report, 

interim report, announcements and other corporate communications which will be sent to Shareholders and/or 

published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.yat-sing.com.

hk). The Directors, company secretary or other appropriate members of the senior management also respond to 

inquiries from the Shareholders and prospective investors promptly.

Procedures for Shareholders to direct enquiries to the Company

For matters in relation to the Board, Shareholders can contact the Company as follows:

Address: 23/F, China United Plaza, 1008 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: info@yat-sing.com.hk

Tel: (852) 3622 1256

Fax: (852) 2307 0022

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and registration, change of name or address, loss 

of share certificates or dividend warrants, the registered Shareholder can contact:

Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong

Union Registrars Limited

Address: A18/F, Asia Orient Tower, Town Place, 33 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2849 3399

Fax: (852) 2849 3319

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 18 December 2014, the Company adopted an amended and restated memorandum and Articles of 

Association, a copy of which has been posted on the websites of the Company (www.yat-sing.com.hk) and the 

Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

Save as disclosed above, there had been no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the 

Company during the Period.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF YAT SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yat Sing Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 39 to 93, which comprise the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement 

of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 

give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to 

report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other 

purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this 

report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Company and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2015, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in 

compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Wong Hon Kei, Anthony

Practising Certificate Number: P05591

Hong Kong

29 September 2015



YAT SING HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2015 39

Consolidated Statement of Profi t or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2015

 Notes 2015 2014

  HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 503,195 600,392

Cost of services  (450,790) (544,629)
   

Gross profit  52,405 55,763

Other income 7 332 14,194

Administrative expenses  (35,836) (15,898)

Finance costs 8 (414) (820)
   

Profit before taxation  16,487 53,239

Income tax expense 9 (5,525) (7,060)
   

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 10 10,962 46,179
   

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

 Owners of the Company  10,839 45,976

 Non-controlling interests  123 203
   

  10,962 46,179
   

Earnings per share (HK cents)

 Basic and diluted 14 1.0 4.7
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 Notes 2015 2014

  HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15 3,331 3,184

Available-for-sale investments 16 1,974 1,974

Deposits paid for property, plant and equipment  222 –
   

  5,527 5,158
   

Current assets

Amounts due from customers for contract work 17 – –

Trade and other receivables 18 199,848 259,575

Pledged bank deposits 19 5,000 5,006

Bank balances and cash 19 98,901 66,808
   

  303,749 331,389
   

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 20 129,610 156,881

Amount due to a director 21 – 140

Bank borrowings 22 10,116 12,646

Obligations under finance leases – due within one year 23 817 831

Tax payable  8,812 9,164
   

  149,355 179,662
   

Net current assets  154,394 151,727
   

Total assets less current liabilities  159,921 156,885
   

Non-current liabilities

Obligations under finance leases – due after one year 23 313 495

Long service payment obligations 24 218 218

Deferred tax liabilities 25 325 258
   

  856 971
   

Net assets  159,065 155,914
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 Note 2015 2014

  HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and reserves

Share capital 26 11,189 9,310

Reserves  147,459 145,923
   

Equity attributable to:

Owners of the Company  158,648 155,233

Non-controlling interests  417 681
   

Total equity  159,065 155,914
   

The consolidated financial statements on pages 39 to 93 were approved and authorised for issue by the board 

of directors on 29 September 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

 LIU Winson Wing Sun CHAN Lo Kin

 Director Director
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 Attributable to owners of the Company

      Non-

 Share  Share  Other  Retained   controlling 

 capital Premium reserve profits Total interests Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

   (Note)

At 1 July 2013 9,310 – – 181,931 191,241 844 192,085

Profit and total comprehensive 

 income for the year – – – 45,976 45,976 203 46,179

Dividend recognised as distribution 

 (Note 13) – – – (81,984) (81,984) (366) (82,350)
       

At 30 June and 1 July 2014 9,310 – – 145,923 155,233 681 155,914

Profit and total comprehensive 

 income for the year – – – 10,839 10,839 123 10,962

Dividend recognised as distribution 

 (Note 13) – – – (86,613) (86,613) – (86,613)

Dividend recognised as distribution 

 to non-controlling interests (Note 13) – – – – – (387) (387)

Elimination of share capital on 

 group reorganisation (9,310) – 9,310 – – – –

Shares issued on group reorganisation 9,790 – (9,790) – – – –

Issue of new shares (Note 26) 1,399 82,511 – – 83,910 – 83,910

Share issue expenses – (4,721) – – (4,721) – (4,721)
       

At 30 June 2015 11,189 77,790 (480) 70,149 158,648 417 159,065
       

Note: Other reserve represented the difference between the nominal value of the issued share capital of Sing Fat Construction and 

ABO in aggregate amount of approximately HK$9,310,000 over nominal value of the share capital of the Company in amount of 

HK$9,790,000 issued in exchange thereof, pursuant to the group reorganisation.
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 2015 2014
 HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 Profit before taxation 16,487 53,239
 Adjustments for:
  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 718 947
  Finance costs 414 820
  Written off on other receivables 300 –
  Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 53 (14,026)
  Reversal of long service payment obligation – (116)
  Write-back of unclaimed dividend included in other payable – (6)
  Bank interest income (230) (46)
  

 Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 17,742 40,812
 Decrease in trade and other receivables 59,427 40,085
 Decrease in trade and other payables (27,115) (17,380)
  

 Cash generated from operations 50,054 63,517
 Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (5,810) (5,161)
  

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 44,244 58,356
  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
 Interest received 230 46
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 190 24,259
 Maturity (placement) of pledged bank deposits 6 (1)
 Deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (222) –
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment (47) (17)
 Repayment from a related company – 785
 Advances to related companies – (5,184)
  

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 157 19,888
  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
 Dividend paid (87,156) (1,344)
 Repayment of bank borrowings (14,179) (24,037)
 Share issue expenses (4,721) –
 Repayment of obligations under finance lease (1,257) (1,722)
 Interest paid (414) (820)
 Repayment to a director (140) (5,650)
 Proceeds from issue of shares 83,910 –
 New bank borrowings raised 11,649 17,760
 Repayment to a related party – (2,000)
  

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (12,308) (17,813)
  

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 32,093 60,431

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 66,808 6,377
  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 98,901 66,808
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1. GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 17 September 2014 as an exempted company 

with limited liability and its shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 14 

January 2015. Its ultimate and immediate holding company is Profound, a company incorporated in the 

British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), which is beneficially owned by Mr. Liu Su Ke, Mr. Chan Lo Kin, Mr. Kan 

Man Hoo, Mr. Kan Yiu Keung, Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok, Mr. Lai Kwan Hin, Mr. Yau Shik Fan, Eddy and Mr. Liu 

Winson Wing Sun. The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company 

are disclosed in the corporate information section to the annual report.

The Company acts an investment holding company and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set 

out in Note 37.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is also the 

functional currency of the Company.

Group restructuring and basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements

Prior to and after the reorganisation, the provision of building maintenance services and renovation 

services were carried out by Sing Fat Construction. To rationalise the corporate structure in preparation 

for the Listing, the Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 17 September 2014 and the 

Group underwent the reorganisation, as detailed in the paragraph headed “Corporate Reorganisation” 

in Appendix IV to the Prospectus (the “Reorganisation”). Upon completion of the Reorganisation, the 

Company became the holding company of the Group on 1 December 2014. The companies that took 

part in the Reorganisation were controlled by the same ultimate equity shareholders, including Mr. Liu Su 

Ke, Mr. Chan Lo Kin, Mr. Kan Man Hoo, Mr. Kan Yiu Keung, Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok, Mr. Lai Kwan Hin, Mr. Liu 

Winson Wing Sun and Mr. Yau Shik Fan, Eddy (collectively referred to as the “Controlling Shareholders”) 

throughout the years ended 30 June 2014 and 2015 or since their respective date of incorporation up to 

30 June 2015 where this is a shorter period.

As there was no change in the Controlling Shareholders before and after the Reorganisation, the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the years ended 30 June 

2015 and 2014 include the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the companies now comprising 

the Group as if the current group structure had been in existence and remained unchanged throughout 

the respective years or since their respective date of incorporation where this is a shorter period. The 

consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2014 has been prepared to 

present the assets and liabilities of the companies now comprising the Group as if the current group 

structure had been in existence at that date.

Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared using the principles 

of merger accounting in accordance with Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common 

Control Combinations” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) 

as if the group structure under the Reorganisation had been in existence throughout the two years ended 

30 June 2015 or since their respective dates of incorporation whichever is the shorter period.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRS(s)”) AND NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE

The Group has applied all the HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”), amendments and 

interpretations issued by the HKICPA which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 July 

2014.

In addition, certain information in the consolidated financial statements are presented and disclosed 

in accordance with the annual report requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) which come into operation during the financial year.

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not 

yet effective.

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments3

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative1

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 

  Amortisation1

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants1

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

  Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12  Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation

 and HKAS 28  Exception1

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint

  Operations1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

The Directors anticipate that, except as described below, the application of other new and revised 

HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRS(s)”) AND NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of 

financial assets. HKFRS 9 was amended in 2010 and includes the requirements for the classification and 

measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition. In 2013, HKFRS 9 was further amended to bring 

into effect of a substantial overhaul of hedge accounting that will allow entities to better reflect their risk 

management activities in the financial statements. A finalised version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 to 

incorporate all the requirements of HKFRS 9 that were issued in previous years with limited amendments 

to the classification and measurement by introducing a “fair value through other comprehensive income” 

(“FVTOCI”) measurement category for certain financial assets. The finalised version of HKFRS 9 also 

introduces an “expected credit loss” model for impairment assessments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 (2014) are described as follows:

• All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. 

Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect 

the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the 

end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, 

and that have contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured 

at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair values at 

the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9 (2014), entities may make 

an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment 

(that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally 

recognised in profit or loss.

• With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit 

or loss (“FVTPL”), HKFRS 9 (2014) requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the 

financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other 

comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk 

in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. 

Changes in fair value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk 

are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change 

in the fair value of the financial liability designated as FVTPL was presented in profit or loss.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRS(s)”) AND NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

• In the aspect of impairment assessments, the impairment requirements relating to the accounting 

for an entity’s expected credit losses on its financial assets and commitments to extend credit 

were added. Those requirements eliminate the threshold that was in HKAS 39 for the recognition 

of credit losses. Under the impairment approach in HKFRS 9 (2014), it is no longer necessary for a 

credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised. Instead, expected credit losses 

and changes in those expected credit losses should always be accounted for. The amount of 

expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 

recognition and, consequently, more timely information is provided about expected credit losses.

• HKFRS 9 (2014) introduces a new model which is more closely aligns hedge accounting with 

risk management activities undertaken by companies when hedging their financial and non-

financial risk exposures. As a principle-based approach, HKFRS 9 (2014) looks at whether a risk 

component can be identified and measured and does not distinguish between financial items and 

non-financial items. The new model also enables an entity to use information produced internally 

for risk management purposes as a basis for hedge accounting. Under HKAS 39, it is necessary to 

exhibit eligibility and compliance with the requirements in HKAS 39 using metrics that are designed 

solely for accounting purposes. The new model also includes eligibility criteria but these are based 

on an economic assessment of the strength of the hedging relationship. This can be determined 

using risk management data. This should reduce the costs of implementation compared with those 

for HKAS 39 hedge accounting because it reduces the amount of analysis that is required to be 

undertaken only for accounting purposes.

HKFRS 9 (2014) will become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early 

application permitted.

The Directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 9 (2014) in the future may have a material impact 

on amounts reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities.

Regarding the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable 

estimate of the effect until a detailed review has been completed.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 

promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 

expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Thus, HKFRS 15 introduces a model 

that applies to contracts with customers, featuring a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to 

determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognised. The five steps are as follows:
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRS(s)”) AND NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

i) Identify the contract with the customer;

ii) Identify the performance obligations in the contact;

iii) Determine the transaction price;

iv) Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations; and

v) Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

HKFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to 

enable users of the financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 

revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 

11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 15 will become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early 

application permitted. The Directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may have 

a material impact on the amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until 

the Group performs a detailed review.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle include a number of amendments to various 

HKFRSs, which are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that changing from one of the disposal methods (i.e. disposal 

through sale or disposal through distribution to owners) to the other should not be considered to be a 

new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is therefore no interruption of 

the application of the requirements in HKFRS 5. Besides, the amendments also clarify that changing the 

disposal method does not change the date of classification.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 clarify that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing 

involvement in a financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and arrangement against the 

guidance for continuing involvement in HKFRS 7 in order to assess whether the additional disclosures for 

any continuing involvement in a transferred asset that is derecognised in its entirety are required. Besides, 

the amendments to HKFRS 7 also clarify that disclosures in relation to offsetting financial assets and 

financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial report, unless the disclosures provide 

a significant update to the information reported in the most recent annual report.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRS(s)”) AND NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle (Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 19 clarify that the market depth of high quality corporate bonds is assessed 

based on the currency in which the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the 

obligation is located. When there is no deep market for high quality corporate bonds in that currency, 

government bond rates must be used.

HKAS 34 requires entities to disclose information in the notes to the interim financial statements “if not 

disclosed elsewhere in the interim financial report”. The amendments to HKAS 34 clarify that the required 

interim disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference 

between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim financial 

report. The other information within the interim financial report must be available to users on the same 

terms as the interim financial statements and at the same time. If users do not have access to the other 

information in this manner, then the interim financial report is incomplete.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of the amendments included in the Annual 

Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle will have a material effect on the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments clarify that companies should use professional judgement in determining what 

information as well as where and in what order information is presented in the financial statements. 

Specifically, an entity should decide, taking into consideration all relevant facts and circumstances, how it 

aggregates information in the financial statements, which include the notes. An entity does not require to 

provide a specific disclosure required by a HKFRS if the information resulting from that disclosure is not 

material. This is the case even if the HKFRS contain a list of specific requirements or describe them as 

minimum requirements.

Besides, the amendments provide some additional requirements for presenting additional line items, 

headings and subtotals when their presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial 

position and financial performance respectively. Entities, in which they have investments in associates 

or joint ventures, are required to present the share of other comprehensive income of associates and 

joint ventures accounted for using the equity method, separated into the share of items that (i) will not be 

reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (ii) will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when 

specific conditions are met.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRS(s)”) AND NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative (Continued)

Furthermore, the amendments clarify that:

i) an entity should consider the effect on the understandability and comparability of its financial 

statements when determining the order of the notes; and

ii) significant accounting policies are not required to be disclosed in one note, but instead can be 

included with related information in other notes.

The amendments will become effective for financial statements with annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2016. Earlier application is permitted.

The Directors anticipate that the application of Amendments to HKAS 1 in the future may have a material 

impact on the disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. However it is not 

practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKAS 1 until the Group performs a detailed 

review.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the 

HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the 

Listing Rules and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 

services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the 

measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is 

directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value measurement are 

explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.



YAT SING HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2015 51

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 

controlled by the Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its financial statements using 

accounting policies other than those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions 

and events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial 

statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with the Group’s 

accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable 

returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect 

the amount of the Group’s returns. When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an 

investee, power over the investee may be obtained through: (i) a contractual arrangement with other vote 

holders; (ii) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii) the Group’s voting rights and potential 

voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above, based on all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 

are changes to one or more of the these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control of the subsidiary and ceases when 

the Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to 

control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners 

of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is 

attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 

between members of the Group are eliminated in full on combination.

Merger accounting for business combination involving entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporates the financial statements items of the combining 

entities or businesses in which the common control combination occurs as if they had been combined 

from the date when the combining entities or businesses first came under the control of the controlling 

party.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Merger accounting for business combination involving entities under common control 

(Continued)

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are combined using the existing book values from 

the controlling shareholders’ perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of 

acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 

over cost at the time of common control combination, to the extent of the continuation of the controlling 

party’s interest.

The consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes the results of 

each of the combining entities or businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date when the 

combining entities or businesses first came under the common control, where this is a shorter period, 

regardless of the date of the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements are presented as if the entities or 

businesses had been combined at the end of the previous reporting period unless the combing entities or 

business first came under common control at a later date.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for services rendered in 

the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from building maintenance and renovation services are recognised when services are provided.

The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from construction services is described in the accounting 

policy headed “Construction contracts” below.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will 

flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income from a financial 

asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 

applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected 

life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are 

recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting 

period, as measured by reference to the percentage of surveys of work performed for individual contract 

up to the reporting date. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the 

extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Construction contracts (Continued)

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is 

recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs 

are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is 

recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress 

billings, the surplus is shown as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts where 

progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, 

the surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts received before the 

related work is performed are included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a liability, as 

advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in 

the consolidated statement of financial position under trade and other receivables.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception 

of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability 

to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so 

as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Retirement benefits cost and termination benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense 

when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service payment to its employees on cessation of 

employment in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amount of 

future benefits that the employees have earned in return for their services in the current and prior periods. 

The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method, discounted to its present value and 

reduced by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plans that are attributed to contributions 

made by the Group.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave 

and sick leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits 

expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted 

amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax currently 

payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as 

reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of 

income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or 

deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation 

of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 

Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is 

probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can 

be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 

accounting profit.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it 

is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets 

arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to 

the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits 

of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part 

of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 

which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 

from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or settle the 

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred 

tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including land and buildings held for administrative purposes are stated 

in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using 

straight line method for land and buildings and using diminishing balance method for the other property, 

plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as 

owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end 

of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 

benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal 

or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 

sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and 

on hand and bank deposits with a maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the consolidated 

statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash as defined above, 

net of outstanding secured bank overdrafts.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial position of the Company at cost less 

accumulated impairment loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted 

from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial 

assets. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined 

at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 

derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 

assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the 

marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and 

of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the 

effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 

debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade 

and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment (see accounting policy on impairment loss 

on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial asset

Available-for-sale financial asset is non-derivative that is either designated as available-for-sale or is not 

classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and 

whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses 

at the end of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial 

assets below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial 

assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 

events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of 

the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of that 

investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and other receivables, assets that are assessed 

not to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective 

evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of 

collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit period, 

observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted 

at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed 

in subsequent periods (see the accounting policy below).

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 

with the exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use 

of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in 

profit or loss. When a trade and other receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 

allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period in 

which the impairment takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss 

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss 

was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent 

that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the 

amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be reversed through profit or loss. Any 

increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in investments revaluation reserve. For available-for-sale debt investments, 

impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the 

investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 

in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability 

and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount due to a director, bank borrowings and 

obligations under finance leases are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 

method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 

allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or where 

appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 

deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 

or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 

to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 

and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been 

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 

and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of 

the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 

asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also 

allocated to individual cash-generating units (CGUs), or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group 

of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 

in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for 

which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognised for the asset (or the CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as 

income immediately.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value for the purpose of impairment assessment, the Group takes into account the 

characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 

when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 

generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 

data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 

the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements into three 

levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether transfer occur between levels of the fair 

value hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by reviewing 

their respective fair value measurement.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the Directors are 

required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 

based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may 

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 

period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 

periods.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that the Directors have 

made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect 

on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent liabilities in respect of litigation claims

Contingent liabilities arising from litigation claims have been assessed by the management with reference 

to legal advice and historical records. The Directors consider that no provision for the contingent liabilities 

in respect of the litigation is necessary after due consideration of each case and with reference to legal 

advice and historical records.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 

uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 

to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue recognition

For some contracts, income is recognised based on management’s estimation of the value of each works 

order. Thereafter, customers would undertake detailed assessment of all completed works orders before 

finalisation of the contracts which normally last for three years. During the assessment process, the actual 

value of completed works orders assessed by the customers may be higher or lower than the estimates 

and this will affect the Group’s revenue recognised.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using diminishing method. The determination of 

the depreciation methods and rates involves management’s estimation. The Group assesses annually the 

depreciation methods and rates of the property, plant and equipment and if the expectation differs from 

the original estimate, such a difference may impact the depreciation in the year and the estimate will be 

changed in the future period. As at 30 June 2015, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment 

was approximately HK$3,331,000 (2014: HK$3,184,000).



YAT SING HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2015 63

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses annually whether property, plant and equipment have any indication of impairment, 

in accordance with relevant accounting policies. The recoverable amounts of property, plant and 

equipment have been determined based on value-in-use calculations if there is indication of impairment. 

The calculations and valuations require the use of judgement and estimates on future operating cash flows 

and discount rates adopted. As at 30 June 2015, the Directors considered that there is no impairment 

indication and the carrying values of property, plant and equipment are approximately HK$3,331,000 

(2014: HK$3,184,000).

Estimated impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and adjusts credit limits based on 

payment history and the customer’s current credit-worthiness, as determined by the review of their 

current credit information. The Group continuously monitors collections and payments from its customers 

and maintains a provision for estimated credit losses based upon its historical experience and any specific 

customer collection issues that has been identified. Credit losses have historically been within the Group’s 

expectations and the Group will continue to monitor the collections from customers and maintain an 

appropriate level of estimated credit losses. During the year ended 30 June 2015, no impairment loss on 

trade and other receivables is made. As at 30 June 2015, the carrying value of trade and other receivables 

are approximately HK$199,848,000 (2014: HK$259,575,000).

5. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from:

 Building maintenance services 316,665 401,910

 Renovation services 186,530 198,482
  

 503,195 600,392
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s reportable and operating segments, based on information reported to the chairman of the 

Board, being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”) for the purposes of resources allocation 

and performance assessment of segment performance focuses on services provided are as follows:

i) Building maintenance; and

ii) Renovation.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 30 June 2015

 Building

  maintenance Renovation Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue 316,665 186,530 503,195
   

Segment profit 41,024 11,100 52,124
  

Unallocated corporate income   332

Central administration costs   (35,555)

Finance costs   (414)
   

Profit before taxation   16,487
   

For the year ended 30 June 2014

 Building

 maintenance Renovation Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue 401,910 198,482 600,392
   

Segment profit 46,031 9,669 55,700
  

Unallocated corporate income   14,257

Central administration costs   (15,898)

Finance costs   (820)
   

Profit before taxation   53,239
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 

described in Note 3. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of 

certain unallocated corporate income, central administration costs and finance costs. This is the measure 

reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

There were no inter-segment sales between different business segments for the years ended 30 June 

2015 and 2014.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable and operating segments:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment assets

Building maintenance 98,080 169,824

Renovation 103,481 89,428
  

Total segment assets 201,561 259,252

Unallocated corporate assets 107,715 77,295
  

Total assets 309,276 336,547
  

Segment liabilities

Building maintenance 46,846 71,525

Renovation 78,530 83,226
  

Total segment liabilities 125,376 154,751

Unallocated corporate liabilities 24,835 25,882
  

Total liabilities 150,211 180,633
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain property, plant and equipment, 

available-for-sale investments, certain other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank 

balances and cash as these assets are managed on a group basis.

• all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain other payables, amount due to 

a director, bank borrowings, obligations under finance leases, tax payable, long service payment 

obligations and deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Other segment information

For the year ended 30 June 2015

 Building

 maintenance Renovation Unallocated Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included in the measure 

 of segment profit or segment assets:

Additions to property, plant and equipment 1,108 – – 1,108

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 415 – 303 718

(Gain) Loss on disposal of property, 

 plant and equipment (19) – 72 53

Written off on other receivables 300 – – 300
    

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM 

 but not included in the measure of segment 

 profit or segment assets:

Bank interest income – – (230) (230)

Finance costs – – 414 414

Income tax expense – – 5,525 5,525
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2014

 Building

  maintenance Renovation Unallocated Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included in the measure 

 of segment profit or segment assets:

Additions to property, plant and equipment 934 – – 934

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 525 – 422 947

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, 

 plant and equipment 63 – (14,089) (14,026)
    

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM 

 but not included in the measure of segment 

 profit or segment assets:

Bank interest income – – (46) (46)

Finance costs – – 820 820

Income tax expenses – – 7,060 7,060
    

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of operations is derived solely in Hong Kong 

(place of domicile). Non-current assets of the Group by location of assets are all located in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

Revenues from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the 

Group are as follows:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A1 321,306 365,100

Customer B2 113,114 118,285
  

1 Revenue from building maintenance and renovation services.

2 Revenue from renovation services.
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7. OTHER INCOME

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank interest income 230 46

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 14,026

Reversal of long service payment obligations – 116

Write-back of unclaimed dividends – 6

Others 102 –
  

 332 14,194
  

8. FINANCE COSTS

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on:

 – Bank borrowings and overdrafts 376 745

 – Obligations under finance leases 38 75
  

 414 820
  

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax – Hong Kong

 Provision for the year 5,458 7,318

Deferred taxation (Note 25) 67 (258)
  

 5,525 7,060
  

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for both years.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and BVI, the Group is not subject to any 

income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax charge can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 16,487 53,239
  

Tax calculated at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% 2,720 8,784

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (38) (2,186)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,863 462

Effect of tax exemption granted (Note) (20) –
  

Income tax expense for the year 5,525 7,060
  

Note: Tax exemption represented a reduction of Hong Ko.ng Profits Tax for the year of assessment 2015/2016 by 75%, subject to 

a ceiling of HK$20,000.

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)

 – Directors’ emoluments (Note 11) 3,052 1,243

 – Salaries, allowances and other benefits 31,015 27,079

 – Severance payment – 186

 – Long service payment obligations – (116)

 – Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 1,064 1,055
  

Total staff costs 35,131 29,447
  

Auditor’s remuneration 900 100

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

 – owned assets 336 301

 – assets held under finance leases 382 646

Written off on other receivables 300 –

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 53 –

Minimum lease payments paid under operating lease 1,303 310

Listing expenses (included in administrative expenses) 12,121 2,573
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight (2014: five) Directors and Chief Executive Officer 

(“CEO”) were as follows:

For the year ended 30 June 2015

   Contributions

  Salaries  to retirement Long service

 Directors’ and other benefits payment

 fees benefits scheme obligations Total

Name of Director HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Emoluments paid or receivable in 

 respect of a person’s services as 

 a director, whether of the Company 

 or its subsidiaries’ undertaking

Executive Directors

Liu Winson Wing Sun 

 (Chairman) (Note i) 10 742 19 – 771

Kan Yiu Keung (CEO) (Note ii) 10 754 19 – 783

Chan Lo Kin (Note ii) 10 697 17 – 724

Non-executive Directors

Liu Su Ke (Note iii) 10 530 – – 540

Kan Yiu Kwok (Note iii) 10 56 – – 66

Independent non-executive Directors

Tong Sze Wan (Note iv) 56 – – – 56

Lam Yiu Por (Note iv) 56 – – – 56

Kwong Ping Man (Note iv) 56 – – – 56
     

 218 2,779 55 – 3,052
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2014

   Contributions

  Salaries  to retirement Long service

 Directors’ and other benefits payment

 fees benefits scheme obligations Total

Name of director HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Emoluments paid or receivable in 

 respect of a person’s services as 

 a director, whether of the Company 

 or its subsidiaries’ undertaking

Executive directors

Liu Winson Wing Sun

 (Chairman) (Note i) 10 409 15 – 434

Kan Yiu Keung (CEO) (Note ii) 10 436 15 – 461

Chan Lo Kin (Note ii) 10 303 15 – 328

Non-executive directors

Liu Su Ke (Note iii) 10 – – – 10

Kan Yiu Kwok (Note iii) 10 – – – 10
     

 50 1,148 45 – 1,243
     

Notes:

(i) Appointed as Director on 17 September 2014 and redesignated as executive Director on 6 October 2014.

(ii) Appointed as executive Director on 6 October 2014.

(iii) Appointed as non-executive Director on 6 October 2014.

(iv) Appointed as independent non-executive Director on 17 December 2014.

(v) The directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the year ended 30 June 2014 and up to the date immediately preceding 

the Listing Date represented the amount payable to Sing Fat Construction’s directors.

Neither the CEO nor any of the directors waived any emoluments in the years ended 30 June 2015 and 

2014.
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12. INDIVIDUAL WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, three (2014: nil) were Directors and CEO 

whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note 11. The emoluments of the remaining two 

(2014: five) individuals were as follows:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 1,886 3,036

Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 18 69
  

 1,904 3,105
  

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

 2015 2014

 No. of  No. of

 employees  employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 5

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 –
  

During the year ended 30 June 2015 and 2014, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest 

paid individuals (including Directors and employees) or other directors as an inducement to join or upon 

joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

13. DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 30 June 2015, an interim dividend of approximately HK$86,613,000 (2014: 

HK$82,350,000 was declared by Sing Fat Construction to its shareholders) was declared by the 

Company to its then sole shareholder, of which approximately HK$79,648,000 and HK$6,965,000 was 

settled in December 2014 and January 2015 respectively.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2015 (2014: 

nil).
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings

Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share 10,839 45,976
  

 2015 2014

 ’000 ’000

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 

 the purpose of basic earnings per share 1,043,319 978,950
  

The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential 

ordinary shares during the years ended 30 June 2015 and 2014.

The weighted average number of ordinary share in issue during the year ended 30 June 2015 represents 

978,950,000 ordinary shares (Notes 26(a) and (c)) issued as part of common control combination as if 

such shares were issued on 1 July 2013, and the weighted average of 139,850,000 ordinary shares (Note 

26(d)) issued under share offer during the year.

The weighted average number of shares in issue during the year ended 30 June 2014 represented the 

978,950,000 ordinary shares (Notes 26(a) and (c)) issued as part of the Reorganisation, as if such shares 

had been outstanding during the entire year of 2014.



YAT SING HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2015 74

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

   Furniture,

  Machinery fixture

 Land and  and and office Motor

 buildings   equipment equipment  vehicles Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST

At 1 July 2013 11,354 371 1,278 6,206 19,209

Additions – – – 934 934

Disposals (11,354) – – (2,054) (13,408)
     

At 30 June and 1 July 2014 – 371 1,278 5,086 6,735

Additions – – – 1,108 1,108

Disposals – – – (570) (570)
     

At 30 June 2015 – 371 1,278 5,624 7,273
     

ACCUMULATED

 DEPRECIATION

At 1 July 2013 1,967 358 1,119 2,335 5,779

Charge for the year 277 1 24 645 947

Eliminated on disposals (2,244) – – (931) (3,175)
     

At 30 June and 1 July 2014 – 359 1,143 2,049 3,551

Charge for the year – 2 20 696 718

Eliminated on disposals – – – (327) (327)
     

At 30 June 2015 – 361 1,163 2,418 3,942
     

CARRYING VALUES

At 30 June 2015 – 10 115 3,206 3,331
     

At 30 June 2014 – 12 135 3,037 3,184
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Except for land and buildings which are depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter of the 

unexpired lease term and 50 years, the above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on 

diminishing balance method over their estimated depreciation rates as below:

Machinery and equipment 25% in the year of purchase and 15% per annum in 

subsequent years

Furniture, fixture and office equipment 25% in the year of purchase and 15% per annum in 

subsequent years

Motor vehicles 25% in the year of purchase and 15% per annum in 

subsequent years

On 28 May 2014, Sing Fat Construction entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a related 

company, Mega Billion Investment Limited (“Mega Billion”), pursuant to which Sing Fat Construction 

agreed to sell and Mega Billion agreed to purchase the land and buildings at cash consideration of 

HK$23,200,000 which was determined with reference to market value. On the date of disposal, the 

carrying value of the land and buildings amounted to approximately HK$9,110,000. The transaction was 

completed on 30 June 2014. Certain Directors are the beneficial shareholders and directors of Mega 

Billion.

As at 30 June 2015, the carrying value of motor vehicle includes an amount of HK$1,426,000 (2014: 

HK$1,617,000) in respect of assets held under finance leases.

16. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity investment in Hong Kong, at cost 1,974 1,974
  

The Group held 4.02% (2014: 4.02%) equity interest in an unlisted company in Hong Kong. The 

investment is measured at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting period because the range of 

reasonable fair value estimate is so significant that the management of the Group is of the opinion that its 

fair value cannot be reliably measured.
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17. AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracts in progress at the end of the reporting period:

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses 68,095 68,095

Less: progress billings (68,095) (68,095)
  

Amounts due from customers for contract work – –
  

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The following is an analysis of trade and other receivables at the end of the reporting period:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 180,768 228,306

Retention money receivables (Note) 12,486 13,988

Advances to subcontractors 5,101 14,535

Prepaid expenses 787 2,198

Deposits and other receivables 706 548
  

 199,848 259,575
  

Note: At 30 June 2015, retention receivables of approximately HK$1,132,000 (2014: HK$$8,382,000) was expected to be 

recovered in more than twelve months from the end of the reporting period but within its normal operating cycle.

The Group does not hold any collateral over the above balances.

The Group does not have a standardised and universal credit period granted to its customers, and the 

credit period of individual customer is considered on a case-by-case basis and stipulated in the project 

contract, as appropriate. The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, presented based on the 

certified report which approximates revenue recognition date at the end of the reporting period:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 90 days 71,113 110,336

91 to 180 days 32,997 34,610

181 to 365 days 26,462 37,986

1 to 2 years 47,052 44,656

Over 2 years 3,144 718
  

 180,768 228,306
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to customers that have no recent history 

of default payment.

As at 30 June 2015, included in the Group’s trade receivable balances were debtors with aggregate 

carrying amount of approximately HK$6,808,000 (2014: HK$7,518,000) which were past due at the end 

of the reporting period for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 90 days 531 6,448

91 to 180 days – 936

181 to 365 days 555 87

Over 1 year 5,722 47
  

 6,808 7,518
  

The Directors consider that there has not been a significant change in credit quality of the relevant 

customers and there is no recent history of default, therefore the amounts are considered to be 

recoverable.

The Group has individually assessed other receivables and provided in full for all receivables that are 

considered not recoverable. During the year ended 30 June 2015, impairment loss of HK$300,000 (2014: 

nil) in respect of other receivable has been recognised.

19. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits

Pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to bank to secure banking facilities granted to the 

Group and were therefore classified as current assets. Pledged bank deposits carried fixed interest rate 

at 0.73% (2014: 0.02%) per annum.

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0.01% to 0.75% (2014: 0.02% to 0.05%) 

per annum.
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of trade and other payables at the end of the reporting period:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 112,818 140,241

Retention money payables (Note a) 11,613 12,935

Receipt in advance 571 571

Accrued expenses and other payables (Note b) 3,829 2,199

Dividend payable to shareholders – 543

Dividend payable to non-controlling interests 779 392
  

 129,610 156,881
  

Notes: 

(a) As at 30 June 2015, retention payables of approximately HK$985,000 (2014: HK$8,027,000) was expected to be paid or 

settled after more than twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

(b) As at 30 June 2015, included in accrued expenses and other payables was amount of approximately HK$425,000 (2014: 

HK$98,000) representing accrued Directors’ emoluments.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the 

reporting period:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 90 days 33,232 81,819

91 to 180 days 28,639 13,002

181 to 365 days 21,711 21,270

1 to 2 years 25,361 23,683

Over 2 years 3,875 467
  

 112,818 140,241
  

Trade payables represented payables to subcontractors. The credit terms granted by subcontractors 

were stipulated in the relevant contracts and the payables were usually due for settlement within seven 

days after the Group received settlement of corresponding trade receivables. The Group has financial risk 

management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit time-frame.
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21. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to a director, Mr. Liu Su Ke, was unsecured, interest free, repayable on demand and fully 

repaid during the year.

22. BANK BORROWINGS

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unsecured and guaranteed 10,116 12,646
  

Carrying amount of bank borrowings repayable 

 (based on scheduled repayment set out in the loan agreement)

  – Within one year 7,642 8,260

  – After one year but within two years 2,474 2,772

  – After two years but within five years – 1,614
  

 10,116 12,646
  

Carrying amount of bank borrowings that are not 

 repayable within one year from the end of the reporting

 period but contain a repayment on demand clause 2,474 4,386

Carrying amount of bank borrowings that are 

 repayable within one year based on scheduled 

 repayment set out in the loan agreement 7,642 8,260
  

Amounts shown under current liabilities 10,116 12,646
  

As at 30 June 2015, bank borrowings bore floating interest rates from 2.60% to 2.75% (2014: 2.75% to 

4.00%) per annum.

As at 30 June 2015, the bank borrowings and general banking facilities were secured and/or guaranteed 

by the corporate guarantee given by the Company and the Group’s bank deposits as disclosed in Note 

19.

As at 30 June 2014, the bank borrowings and general banking facilities were secured and/or guaranteed 

by:

– the Group’s bank deposits as disclosed in Note 19;

– properties held by Gain Line Engineering Limited (“Gain Line”), of which certain Directors are 

beneficial shareholders and directors of Gain Line;

– personal guarantee given by the Directors, Mr. Liu Winson Wing Sun, Mr. Kan Yiu Keung, Mr. Chan 

Lo Kin, Mr. Liu Su Ke and Mr. Kan Yiu Kwok, and a related party, Mr. Kan Man Hoo; and

– guarantee given by Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited under the SME Financing Guarantee 

Scheme.
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23. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

 Current liabilities 817 831

 Non-current liabilities 313 495
  

 1,130 1,326
  

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its motor vehicles under finance leases. The lease term ranged 

from 2 to 3 years (2014: 2 to 5 years) throughout the year ended 30 June 2015. During the year ended 30 

June 2015, the effective interest rate ranged from 1.23% to 1.50% (2014: 1.30% to 1.85%) per annum.

  Present value of minimum

 Minimum lease payments lease payments

 2015 2014 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

 Within one year 834 853 817 831

 After one year but less than two years 255 433 251 429

 After two years but less than five years 63 66 62 66
    

 1,152 1,352 1,130 1,326

Less: future finance charges (22) (26) N/A N/A
    

Present value of obligations under finance leases 1,130 1,326
  

Less: amount due for settlement with 12 months

 (shown under current liabilities)   (817) (831)
    

Amount due for settlement after 12 months   313 495
    

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets.
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24. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS

Movement in the long service payment obligations is as follows:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 218 334

Credited to profit or loss – (116)
  

At 30 June 218 218
  

The Group makes provision for probable future long service payments to employees in accordance with 

Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. Pursuant to Chapter 10 of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, 

the long service payment is to be offset with the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s contributions 

made to MPF Scheme for the employees and subject to a cap of HK$390,000 per employee. The 

provision represents the management’s best estimate of the Group’s liability at the end of the reporting 

period. As at 30 June 2015 and 2014, the amount is calculated based on the principal assumptions stated 

as below:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Salary inflation rate 7.00% 6.40%

Discount rate 1.79% 2.07%
  

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liabilities arising from accelerated tax depreciation recognised by the Group and movements 

thereof during the years ended 30 June 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

 HK$’000

At 1 July 2013 516

Credited to profit or loss (Note 9) (258)
 

At 30 June and 1 July 2014 258

Charged to profit or loss (Note 9) 67
 

At 30 June 2015 325
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26. SHARE CAPITAL

Movements of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company for the period from 17 September 

2014 (date of the incorporation of the Company) to 30 June 2015 are as follows:

  Nominal

 Number of value of

 Ordinary ordinary

 shares shares

Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each  HK$’000

Authorised:

 At 17 September 2014 (date of incorporation) (Note a) 38,000,000 380

 Increase during the period (Note b) 1,962,000,000 19,620
  

 At 30 June 2015 2,000,000,000 20,000
  

Issued and fully paid:

 Share issued upon incorporation (Note a) 1 –

 Shares issued on Reorganisation (Note c) 978,949,999 9,790

 Shares issued on initial public offering (Note d) 139,850,000 1,399
  

 At 30 June 2015 1,118,800,000 11,189
  

Notes:

(a) Upon incorporation, the authorised share capital of the Company was HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 ordinary shares 

of HK$0.01 each. One share was allotted and issued nil paid to the subscriber on 17 September 2014, which was then 

transferred to Profound on the same date.

(b) Pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the sole shareholder of the Company on 30 November 2014, the authorised 

share capital of the Company was increased from HK$380,000 to HK$20,000,000 by the creation of an additional 

1,962,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

(c) Pursuant to the Reorganisation and as consideration for the acquisition by the Company of the entire issued share capital of 

ABO from Controlling Shareholders, on 1 December 2014, (i) the one nil paid share then held by Profound was credited as 

fully paid at par, and (ii) 978,949,999 shares, all credited as fully paid at par, were allotted and issued to Profound.

(d) On 14 January 2015, 139,850,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price of HK$0.60 per share pursuant 

to the share offer of the Company.

(e) All shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with all shares then in issue.

As the Company was not incorporated prior to 30 June 2014 and the Reorganisation was not completed 

as at 30 June 2014, the share capital in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 

2014 and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2014 represented the 

combined share capital of ABO and Sing Fat Construction attributable to owners of the Company.
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27. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 

while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The 

Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts (which includes bank borrowings, amount due to 

a director, obligations under finance leases, net of pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) 

and equity attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of this review, the Directors consider the 

cost of capital and risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital 

structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and the issue or redemption of borrowings.

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets 1,974 1,974

 Loans and receivables (including pledged bank 

  deposits and bank balances and cash) 297,861 314,656
  

Financial liabilities

 At amortised cost 140,285 170,422
  

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include trade and other receivables, pledged bank 

deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, amount due to a director, bank borrowings 

and obligations under finance leases. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective 

notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments included credit risk, interest rate risk and 

liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages 

and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective 

manner.

Credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a 

financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from 

the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement 

of financial position.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible 

for determination of monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue 

debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade and other receivable 

regularly at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for 

irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly 

reduced.

As at 30 June 2015, the Group has concentration of credit risk as 47% (2014: 57%) of the total trade 

receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer while 98% (2014: 95%) of the total trade 

receivables was due from the Group’s five largest customers.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings 

assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its variable-rate bank balances and 

bank borrowings and is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate pledged bank 

deposits and obligations under finance leases. The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging 

policy. However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary 

actions when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of prime rate arising from 

the Group’s HK$ denominated borrowings. However, the Directors consider that the Group’s exposure 

to interest rate risk is minimal as there is insignificant fluctuation on prime rate.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-

derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the amount 

of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis 

point (2014: 50 basis point) increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 

management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 

interest rates.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2014: 50 basis point) higher/lower and all other variables were 

held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 30 June 2015 would decrease/increase by 

approximately HK$42,000 (2014: approximately HK$53,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s 

exposure to cash flow interest rate risk on its variable rate bank borrowings.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 

equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 

effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures 

compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 

liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based 

on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a 

repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the 

banks choosing to exercise their rights within one year after the reporting date. The maturity analysis for 

other non-derivative financial liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, 

the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

   Total

 On demand   contractual

 or within  undiscounted Carrying 

Liquidity table 1 year 1-5 years cash flow amount

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 30 June 2015

Trade and other payables 129,039 – 129,039 129,039

Bank borrowings (Note a) 10,303 – 10,303 10,116

Obligation under finance leases 834 318 1,152 1,130
    

 140,176 318 140,494 140,285
    

At 30 June 2014

Trade and other payables 156,310 – 156,310 156,310

Amount due to a director 140 – 140 140

Bank borrowings (Note b) 13,087 – 13,087 12,646

Obligation under finance leases 853 499 1,352 1,326
    

 170,390 499 170,889 170,422
    

The amounts for guarantee issued to the banks in respect of the performance bonds disclosed in 

Note 33 are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the arrangement for 

the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on 

expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that no 

amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change depending on 

the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that 

the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the ‘on demand or within 1 year’ time band in the 

above maturity analysis. As at 30 June 2015, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these bank borrowings 

amounted to approximately HK$2,474,000. Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the Directors do not believe 

that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The Directors believe 

that such bank borrowings will be repaid after one year but within two years after the reporting date in accordance with the 

scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows 

will amount to approximately HK$2,490,000.

(b) Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the ‘on demand or within 1 year’ time band in the above 

maturity analysis. As at 30 June 2014, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these bank borrowings amounted 

to approximately HK$4,386,000. Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the Directors do not believe that it is 

probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The Directors believe that 

such bank borrowings in amounts of approximately HK$2,772,000 and approximately HK$1,614,000 will be repaid after one 

year but within two years and after two years but within five years, respectively after the reporting date in accordance with the 

scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows 

will amount to approximately HK$4,530,000.

(c) The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change 

if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurement

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of current portion of financial assets and financial 

liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements not materially differ from their 

fair values due to their immediate or short-term maturities. The fair value of non-current portion of finance 

lease approximates its carrying amount, as it is carried at amortised cost using effective method.

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant to the written resolution passed on 

18 December 2014 to attract and retain high quality staff, to provide additional incentive to eligible 

participants and to promote the success of the business of the Group.

Eligible participants of the share option scheme include employees (full-time and part-time), directors, 

consultants, advisors, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or 

service providers of the Group.

No share options are granted since the adoption of the share option scheme and there are no outstanding 

share options as at 30 June 2015.
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group operates MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes 

are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes 

5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees and 

subject to a cap of HK$1,250 from June 2012 to May 2014 and HK$1,500 thereafter per employee.

During the years ended 30 June 2015 and 2014, the total expense recognised in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is approximately HK$1,119,000 and 

HK$1,100,000 respectively, which represent contributions payable to the scheme by the Group at rates 

specified in the rules of the scheme.

31. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had outstanding commitments in respect of future minimum 

lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 900 1,238

In the second to fifth year inclusive – 1,002
  

 900 2,240
  

Operating lease payments represents rentals payable by the Group for its office premises. Leases are 

negotiated and rentals are fixed for a term ranging from 2 to 3 years (2014: 2 to 3 years).

32. COMMITMENTS

As at 30 June 2015, capital expenditure contracted for but yet incurred by the Group is as follows:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of 

 property, plant and equipment contract for but not provided in 

 the consolidated financial statements 1,444 –
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims

One subsidiary of the Group is defendant in a number of claims, lawsuits and potential claims relating 

to employees’ compensation cases and personal injuries claims. The Directors considered that the 

possibility of any outflow in settling the legal claims was remote as these claims were well covered by 

insurance and subcontractors’ indemnity. Accordingly, no provision for the contingent liabilities in respect 

of the litigations is necessary, after due consideration of each case and with reference to the legal opinion.

Guarantee issued

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had provided guarantees to banks in respect of the 

following:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Performance bonds in favor of its clients 692 6,860
  

As at 30 June 2015, approximately HK$692,000 (2014: HK$6,860,000) of performance bonds were given 

by banks in favour of some of the Group’s customers as security for the due performance and observance 

of the Group’s obligations under the service contracts entered into between the Group and its customers. 

If the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to its customers to whom performance bonds have 

been given, such customers may demand the banks to pay to them the sum or sums stipulated in such 

demand. The Group will then become liable to compensate such banks accordingly. The performance 

bonds will be released upon completion of the contract work for the relevant customers.

34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 23 July 2015, the Board was informed by Profound, a controlling shareholder (as defined under the 

Listing Rules) of the Company, Profound entered into a share placing agreement with Placing Agent 

pursuant to which the Placing Agent has agreed to find placees to purchase 60,000,000 shares at 

HK$1.37 per share. The Placing was completed on 24 July 2015 and the placees are independent third 

parties of the Company.

On 30 July 2015, the Board was further informed by Profound of the sale of 180,000,000 shares at the 

consideration of HK$1.00 per Share. The purchasers are independent third parties of the Company.

Immediately upon completion of the above transactions, Profound remained as a controlling shareholder 

of the Company and is interested in approximately 53.55% of the issued share capital of the Company.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, during the year, the Group 

entered into transactions with related parties as follows:

Related parties Nature of transaction 2015 2014

  HK$’000 HK$’000

Chung Tat Construction   Subcontracting fee paid

 Co., Limited (“Chung Tat”)  to a related party – 46,102

Mega Billion Rental of office from a related party 900 –

General Top Holdings Limited Rental of motor vehicle 

  from a related party 93 111
  

The above companies are companies of which certain Directors are their beneficial shareholders and/

or directors.

The following balances were outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

 Amounts due from

 related parties

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Chung Tat (included in trade and other receivables) 510 –

Mega Billion (included in trade and other receivables) 225 –
  

(b) As disclosed in Note 15, the Group disposed of its land and building to Mega Billion at cash 

consideration of HK$23,200,000 and then leased back the land and buildings as Office Premises at 

monthly rental of HK$75,000 from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2016. The monthly rental was determined 

with reference to market value.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management personnel during the year 

were as follows:

 2015 2014

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term benefits 6,047 2,565

Post-employment benefits 91 79
  

 6,138 2,644
  

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined by the Remuneration Committee 

having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which 

the Company was a party and in which Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 

subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

(d) Under a deed of indemnity dated 18 December 2014, the Controlling Shareholders have undertaken 

to provide indemnities on a joint and several basis in respect of, among other matters, all claims, 

payments, suits, damages, settlement payments, costs and expenses which would be incurred or 

suffered by the Group as a result of any litigation, arbitration and/or legal proceedings, whether of 

criminal, administrative, contractual, tortuous or otherwise nature against any member of the Group in 

relation to any act, non-performance, omission or otherwise of any member of the Group on or before 

the date which the share offer of the Company becomes unconditional.
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36. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

 Notes 2015

  HK$’000

Non-current asset

Investment in a subsidiary  9,790
  

Current assets

Amounts due from subsidiaries (b) 2,237

Bank balances and cash  60,572
  

  62,809
  

Current liability

Accruals and other payables  515
  

Net current assets  62,294
  

Net assets  72,084
  

Capital and reserves

Share capital  11,189

Reserves (c) 60,895
  

Total equity  72,084
  

Notes:

(a) No comparative figure for 2014 was shown as the Company was incorporated on 17 September 2014.

(b) Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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36. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 

(Continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c) Movement in reserves

 Share Accumulated

 Premium  losses Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit and total comprehensive income for the period – 69,718 69,718

Dividend recognised as distribution (Note 13) – (86,613) (86,613)

Issue of new shares (Note 26) 82,511 – 82,511

Share issue expenses (4,721) – (4,721)
   

At 30 June 2015 77,790 (16,895) 60,895
   

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 30 June 2015 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation/

operation

Class of 

shares held

Issued and fully 

paid share capital

Percentage of equity 

interest attributable 

to the Company Principal activities

Directly held

ABO BVI Ordinary United States 

 dollar $89,600

100% Investment holding

Indirectly held

Sing Fat Construction Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,200,000 99.61% Provision of building  maintenance 

 and  renovation services

Note: None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.

38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(a) During the year ended 30 June 2015, the Group entered into finance lease arrangements in 

respect of motor vehicles with a total capital value at the inception of the leases of approximately 

HK$1,061,000 (2014: HK$917,000).

(b) During the year ended 30 June 2014, the amount due from a related company of approximately 

HK$80,097,000 was offset against dividend payable by one of the subsidiaries to its shareholders, 

pursuant to a set-off deed dated 30 June 2014.
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 2015 2014 2013 2012

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 503,195 600,392 601,426 602,641

Cost of services (450,790) (544,629) (555,507) (566,989)
    

Gross profit 52,405 55,763 45,919 35,652

Other income 332 14,194 24 5,351

Operating expenses (36,250) (16,718) (17,964) (17,612)
    

Profit before taxation 16,487 53,239 27,979 23,391

Income tax expense (5,525) (7,060) (4,643) (3,216)
    

Profit and total comprehensive 

 income for the year 10,962 46,179 23,336 20,175
    

Earnings per share (HK cents)

Basic and diluted 1.0 4.7 N/A N/A
    

Assets and liabilities

Non-current assets 5,527 5,158 15,404 14,720

Current assets 303,749 331,389 387,793 349,984

Current liabilities (149,355) (179,662) (209,853) (193,089)
    

Total assets less current liabilities 159,921 156,885 193,344 171,615

Non-current liabilities (856) (971) (1,259) (1,516)
    

Net assets 159,065 155,914 192,085 170,099
    

Capital and reserves

Share capital 11,189 9,310 9,310 9,310

Reserves 147,459 145,923 181,931 160,041

Non-controlling interests 417 681 844 748
    

Total equity 159,065 155,914 192,085 170,099
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